
 

 
 

 

 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

1 

 
Governance and Human Resources 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 
 

AGENDA FOR THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, which will be 
held in Committee Room 5, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 21 October 2014 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 
John Lynch 
Head of Democratic Services 
 
 

Enquiries to : Rachel Stern 

Tel : 020 7527 3308 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 14 October 2014 

 
 
Membership Substitute Members 
 
Councillors: Substitutes: 
Councillor Raphael Andrews 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury 
Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz 
Councillor Osh Gantly 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Jean Roger Kaseki (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) 
 

Councillor Alice Donovan 
Councillor Tim Nicholls 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
 

 
Co-opted Member: Substitutes: 
Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch 
 

Olav Ernstzen, Islington Healthwatch 
Phillip Watson, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 

Quorum: is 3 Councillors 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

2 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Introductions 
 

 

2.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

3.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 (b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out  
  duties as a member, or of your election; including from a trade union. 
 (c)Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body 
 in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
 (d)Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
 (e)Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 
 (f)Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which 
you or your partner have  
  a beneficial interest. 
 (g)Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   
 

This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

5.  Order of business 
 

 

6.  Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting 
 

1 - 4 

7.  Chair's Report 
 

 



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

3 
 

 The Chair will update the Committee on recent events. 
 

 

8.  Executive Member and Health and Wellbeing Board Update 
 

 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

1.  Whittington Hospital - Performance Update 
 

 

2.  Drug and alcohol misuse - Annual Update 
 

 

3.  Islington Healthwatch Annual Report 
 

5 - 46 

4.  GP Appointments - Final Report 
 

47 - 80 

5.  Prioritisation of scrutiny topics 
 

 

6.  Work Programme 2014/15 
 

81 - 82 

 
 

The next meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee will be on 18 November 2014 
 

Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the council's 
website: 

www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 16 September 2014 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 5, 
Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on Tuesday, 16 September 2014 at 7.30 pm. 

 
Present: Councillors: Chowdhury, Gantly, Hamitouche, Heather, Kaseki 

(Vice-Chair) and Klute (Chair) 
 

Also Present: Councillors Burgess 
 

 Co-opted Member  Phillip Watson, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 
 

Councillor Martin Klute in the Chair 

 

14 INTRODUCTIONS (ITEM NO. 1)  
Councillor Klute welcomed everyone to the meeting. Members of the Committee and 
officers introduced themselves. 
 

15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. 2)  
Apologies were received from Councillor Comer-Schwartz and Bob Dowd. 
 

16 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (ITEM NO. 3)  
Phillip Watson for Bob Dowd. 
 

17 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. 4)  
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

18 ORDER OF BUSINESS (ITEM NO. 5)  
The order of business would be as per the agenda. 
 

19 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. 6)  
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 30 July 2014 be confirmed 
and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 
 

20 CHAIR'S REPORT (ITEM NO. 7)  
The Chair informed the committee that the report into GP services in Bunhill had been 
concluded and whilst there was capacity to absorb some of the new residents within 
existing provision, by 2020 more services would be needed. Option four of the paper 
included the relocation of a practice to larger premises. The preferred site would have 
been the City Forum development but only a third of the required space had been 
offered there.  
 
The N19 Care pilot should be covered as part of the Care Act presentation planned 
for November. 
 

21 EXECUTIVE MEMBER UPDATE (ITEM NO. 8)  
There would be a joint Mental Health summit with Camden and members were invited 
to attend if they could. Details of the date would be circulated. 
 
A summary of the Barker report on the social services reform crisis could be 
circulated to members as required. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  16 September 2014 
 

2 
 

It was still intended that mental health training would be provided for members. More 
details would hopefully be available soon. 
 
 

22 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD UPDATE (ITEM NO. 9)  
The next Health and Wellbeing Board would not take place until 15 October so there 
were no updates from the last meeting. 
 

23 PRIMARY CARE FOUNDATION - IMPROVING ACCESS AND URGENT CARE IN 
GENERAL PRACTICE (ITEM NO. 1)  
Henry Clay, representing the Primary Care Foundation gave a presentation to the 
Committee.  
 
During the discussion the following points were made –  

 Locum issues were relevant when considering the data on GP performance. 

 As part of the review process the Committee should look at how the CCG 
were helping practices to change the performance statistics as required. 

 There were draft access standards being prepared for London but they were 
not yet in place. 

 It had been difficult to find threads of consistency across high and low 
performing practices. 

 There was an expectation on practices that they would provide online access 
to patients from next year but there needed to be a balance of methods of 
access. 

 Support had to be given to receptionist teams to help with managing patients 
with English as a second language. There were existing translation services in 
place but the take up of these was low and did not seem to work well. Many 
patients chose to bring a family member or friend with them to translate. 

 Although there was data on GP performance nationally there was no one 
solution for GP performance that would work for all practices.  

 When practices told patients to call back again at the same time tomorrow 
they were often perpetuating the pressure on phone lines at busy times of day. 

 Resourcing on any given day could be an issue but there could also be more 
complicated underlying issues. 

 Repeat appointments was a larger issue for availability. If patients were 
coming back seven times rather than five times then the practice needed to 
consider why the extra appointments were needed. 

 The widespread variation between practices was a big challenge.  

 DNAs (did not attend) appointments were often higher when appointments 
were booked further in advance as the illness had improved by the time the 
appointment came around. If surgeries made better use of nursing staff so 
patients could be seen sooner the levels of DNA appointments could improve. 

 Patients unable to get through to the surgery by phone to access 
appointments was a major issues. Aiming for targets of 90% of calls being 
answered in 30 seconds would often diminish complaints. 

 Occasionally reception staff felt that the surveys were invasive and it was 
important that practice managers explained how the surveys would help 
improve systems for the patients of the practice. 

 Walk in appointments could help with providing easier access to 
appointments, particularly to those with English as a second language but it 
was just one way of service delivery. 

 There was a drive towards extending access to primary care including into 
weekends. The shift was inevitable but it was possible that by working with 
other practices new service models could be developed. The difficulty with this 

Page 2



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  16 September 2014 
 

3 
 

was how to provide continuity of care as a patient’s notes and clinical record 
would need to be accessible. 

 Continuity and having management plans in place that would explain what 
would happen when a situation arose were vital. 

 The Committee had heard evidence of many GPs performing a social support 
function and undertaking a significant amount of work on benefits 
assessments, housing applications and sick notes. It was suggested that 
giving other clinicians access to the system centrally would enable these 
patients to be seen elsewhere. 

 As practices grew they would need more resources. Allowing some staff to 
move round practices and out of hours services to gain experience could be 
beneficial.  

 Caution should be exercised to not look at just one model of service.  
 
The Chair thanked Henry Clay for attending. 

 
 

24 CAMDEN AND ISLINGTON MENTAL HEALTH TRUST- QUALITY ACCOUNT 
REPORT 2014/15 (ITEM NO. 2)  
Colin Plant, representing Camden and Islington gave a presentation to the 
Committee. 
 
The full quality account was available online and the slides could be circulated to 
members. 
 
The latest CQC inspection had taken place in July and there had been positive 
responses with some areas for improvement. 
 
In the discussion the following points were made – 

 The quality account had exact figures for rates of mental health in Islington.  

 Islington had one of the highest rates of psychosis in London. 

 Readmission rates were average for London and patient experience was very 
important. Results were improving but it depended on the demographic of the 
population. Joined up services were vital and the Trust needed to work with 
the voluntary and primary care sector in the most effective way. 

 There were socioeconomic factors in mental health and it was possible there 
was unmet need. Better physical health was key to mental health. 

 Ligature usage had been raised as an area for improvement and work had 
been undertaken on that area. 

 There had been some issues with bed pressures due to a rise in demand but 
this was likely down to a rise in overseas visitors and other factors. 

 Positive areas had included staff and innovative work taking place in the trust. 
The care, kindness and compassion of staff had been praised.  

 33 inspectors had taken part in the inspection which was standard for an 
inspection of this kind. The Committee noted that 40 inspectors had 
undertaken the recent inspection at St George’s as a comparable trust. 

 The Trust worked very closely with partners on smoking cessation 
programmes. 

 There had been reports in the local press about the use of restraints. The 
Trust used the same methods of restraint as other mental health trusts and 
were undertaking comprehensive retraining including looking at de-escalation 
prior to a situation reaching a point where restraints were needed. 

 Any method of restraint has a degree of risk and there were a range of 
methods that could be used. The Trust had undertaken a major retraining 
programme and looked at best practice and monitoring. Notes were also kept 
of all incidents and would be reviewed. 

Page 3



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  16 September 2014 
 

4 
 

 Systems at Highgate Mental Health Centre were under review and service 
users’ opinions were being taken into consideration. 

 There were good academic studies on stress  which showed that being in 
employment was a huge factor in improved mental health. Poor environment 
also had a huge impact on mental health.  

 The Trust would come back to the Committee in six months to report on the 
areas of concern that the inspection had raised. 

 Each division had a service user group and the Trust worked closely with 
IBUG.  
 
The Chair thanked Colin Plant for attending. 

 
 

25 PRIORITISATION OF SCRUTINY TOPICS (ITEM NO. 3)  
The Chair would circulate the updated GP appointment recommendations to the 
Committee. The evidence from that evening’s session would be added into the report. 
 
 

26 WORK PROGRAMME 2014/15 (ITEM NO. 4)  
Items would be considered by the next meeting on the Whittington Health and Drug 
and Alcohol services. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the work programme be noted. 
 
 
 
MEETING CLOSED AT 9.40 pm 
 
 
 
Chair 
 

Page 4



Since we launched...

At the Whittington we’ve helped to improve discharge procedures for elderly patients, particularly with regard to  
follow-up care. We also secured the introduction of ear plugs and eye masks on wards to help patients sleep. Our work 
on behalf of Deaf patients has seen new training programmes brought in at the Royal Free, vibrating buzzers introduced 
at University College London, and a clear commitment from both hospitals to always let Deaf patients know whether a 
British Sign Language interpreter has been booked ahead of their appointment.

Healthwatch volunteers have made 8 visits to inspect conditions inside care homes in the borough, speaking to more 
than 60 residents and members of staff in the process.  We’ve also been to day centres across Islington to interview  
people who receive care in their own homes, to assess the general level of satisfaction with these services. 7 of our 
 volunteers have received additional training in the safeguarding of vulnerable adults. 

Healthwatch Islington has provided 96 information and support sessions for community groups in the last 16 months. 
We’ve also handled 263 requests from individuals needing help to access health and care services. In the last two 
months (June and July) we’ve knocked on 421 doors in some of the most disadvantaged social housing estates in the  
borough to talk to residents about Healthwatch and to hear about their needs.

Our mystery shoppers have made 41 visits to GP practices. We’ve investigated how well the practices make information 
about making a complaint available, and how well they cater to the needs of children and young people. We’ve also 
interviewed a range of local  people managing long term conditions (such as arthritis, heart disease and depression) to 
find out if they felt they got enough support from their doctor.

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



16 of 35 
GP practices

Now displaying Healthwatch Islington’s  up-to-date 
complaints guidance on their own websites

24 steering group members

11 mystery shoppers

9 community ambassadors

13 enter and view representatives

1 researcher

1 data analyst

1 office helper

1 financial adviser

47volunteers
Recruited in a variety of roles  including:

1,000+
Hours of work contributed by 
volunteers in our first  
12 months

Those 1,000+ hours are just the tip 
of the iceberg. We haven’t included  
time our volunteers spend reading 
and responding to messages,  
preparing for meetings, reporting 
on activities, or travelling between 
venues.

599
164  
with community 
ambassadors

112 
with enter and view 
volunteers

263 
with the signposting 
team

60 
via surveys and  
reference groups

One-to-one conversations with Islington residents: 

13 
Reports on local health and social care services 
shared with the public and sent to commissioners

6,885
Healthwatch postcards sent to groups most in need 
of our help accessing services, in the last 5 months

P
age 6



Healthwatch Islington is a Company Limited by Guarantee, company number 8407852 

 

 

Healthwatch Islington 
 Annual Report 2013/14 
 

Page 7



 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction 

1 Introduction from the chair 

2 Our team    
  

4 Governance and decision-making 

4 Involving Local People 

5 Healthwatch Islington’s work    
  

19 Achievements in year one   
  

27 Finances  
  

28 Next Steps 

28 Work Plan 2014 - 15   

33 References   
  

34 Appendices   

 

© Healthwatch Islington 2014 

The text of this document (this excludes, where present, the Royal Arms and all 
departmental and agency logos) may be reproduced free of charge in any format or 
medium providing that it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context. 

The material must be acknowledged as Healthwatch Islington copyright and the 
document title specified. Where third party material has been identified, permission 
from the respective copyright holder must be sought. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
info@healthwatchislington.co.uk 

You can download this publication from www.healthwatchislington.co.uk or contact 
us for alternative formats or a hard copy. 
 

Page 8

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/


1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It has been a busy and exciting first year for Healthwatch Islington. Not only have 

we set up as an organisation but we have been making good progress at developing 

links with our local community and statutory partners. 

There have been a wide range of changes in health and social care policy. 

Healthwatch Islington has been keeping Islington residents up-to-date on these 

issues and sharing information in our newsletter, on our web-site and at local 

meetings. 

We have been gathering the views of local residents on health and care services 

and have launched our signposting service which offers a wide range of information 

on local services to residents and their carers. 

We are pleased to have had our funding extended by London Borough of Islington 

until March 2016. This means that in the coming year we can start turning our 

research into recommendations and our recommendations in to impacts for local 

people. 

 

 

Olav Ernstzen, Chair Healthwatch Islington 

People-led change 

Healthwatch Islington gathers the experiences of local 

people to shape local services. The more views we 

can collect the more influence we can achieve, 

Page 9



2 

 

 

Healthwatch Islington (HWI) is run by our Board of 

Directors. The Board is responsible for the management 

and governance of HWI. Members use their expertise to 

ensure that HWI is fulfilling its legal and statutory 

obligations. For more information about the Board 

members, please visit our web-site. 

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/content/meet-

board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The HWI Steering Group sets our strategic direction. Members of the Steering 

Group members apply their personal knowledge and experience of health and 

social care services and issues, but speak on behalf of the local community. The 

Steering Group supports the activities of HWI, including our programme of out-

reach work, community signposting, and the events we host within the local 

community. The group also monitor the organisation’s progress and approve action 

plans for future work. Members are elected for a three-year term. An election 

takes place each year. For a list of participants, see appendix A. 

 

 

Membership of Healthwatch Islington means that I am kept up to date with 

developments in health and social care. This means that I can keep the people 

and groups I work with informed. It also means that there is an opportunity for 

the groups I work with to utilise the structures and statutory powers of 

Healthwatch Islington to influence commissioners. 

Phillip Watson, Healthwatch Director, Chief Executive of the Manor Gardens 

Trust and Chair of the Islington Voluntary Sector Health Network 

 

There's no point being a person that says you hate this, you hate that, but you 

don't do anything about it - you’ve got to be involved on the inside to make 

things better. 

Rose, Healthwatch Islington Director 

Page 10

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/content/meet-board
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/content/meet-board


3 

 

 

Healthwatch Islington is set up to carry out a range of activities. Our volunteer 

team is fundamental to the success of this work. Anyone with an interest in health 

and social care in Islington can volunteer with us and we have a range of roles that 

people can volunteer for. As well as on-going support and development, we offer 

volunteers a range of training. 

 

During the year 2013 – 14 our volunteers have taken part in a range of training 

courses, including: 

 Induction in to Healthwatch Islington, 

 Safeguarding (how to recognise abuse and neglect), 

 Human Resources, 

 Enter and View (visiting local services to gather views and experiences)  

 Mystery Shopping (visiting local services to gather evidence on how the 

service is provided). 

 

Our Volunteers are supported by a staff team made up of: 

 Chief Officer 

 Communications and Out-reach Officer 

 Signposting and Out-reach Officer 

 Volunteer Co-ordinator (part-time) 

 

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/content/meet-team 

 

The best thing about volunteering here is connecting with people from 

different backgrounds… and looking at health from the perspective of the 

community as a whole rather than that of an individual person. 

I’d say it’s given me a first-hand view of the evolving needs, and also the 

challenges associated with social care in the borough. 

Priyanka, Healthwatch Islington Community Ambassador 

Page 11

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/content/meet-team


4 

 

 

 

Healthwatch Islington (HWI) is a not for profit Company Limited By Guarantee. We 

have been grant funded by London Borough of Islington to carry out the 

‘representation’ and ‘signposting’ functions of Local Healthwatch until 31st March 

2016. NHS Complaints advocacy for the borough is provided by Voiceability. See 

our web-site to read our Articles of Association. 

 

Healthwatch Islington has not contracted with any other organisations and 

therefore, no other organisations have been granted a sub-licence to use the 

branding. Healthwatch Islington is licensed to use the Healthwatch branding. Any 

decisions on sub-contracting would be made by the board and informed with input 

from the Steering Group. 

We are a member-led organisation. Our Steering Group (24 seats) is elected by our 

community members (750 people) with space for some co-options to increase 

diversity. 

Our work plan is based on feedback from the local community. We develop a list of 

key themes and then ask members and local voluntary sector partners for their 

views on these themes. Our Steering Group includes representatives from local 

voluntary sector partners. How we carry out our activities, for example, by 

requesting information, by carrying out research or by visiting services, would be 

approved by the Steering Group, though recommendations could come from 

working groups, staff, the board, the Enter and View team, mystery shoppers, the 

Steering Group or community members. 

Reports on the views gathered are drafted by the staff team and then discussed 

and approved by the volunteers involved in gathering the views before being sent 

to our Steering Group for approval. Any recommendations we make would be 

discussed in draft form with key partners such as local providers and 

commissioners to ensure that our recommendations lead to positive outcomes for 

our local community.  

 

Page 12



5 

 

Healthwatch Islington’s activities are set out in section 221 of the Local 

Government and Public Involvement Act 2007 and updated in the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 

The following section of this report looks at Healthwatch Islington’s activities, how 

local people have been involved in them, and their impact. Impacts are further 

explored in the achievements section of this report. 

(a) Promoting and supporting the involvement of local people in the 

commissioning, provision and scrutiny of local care services. 

Healthwatch Islington (HWI) has gathered experiences to inform commissioning on 

a range of issues. More details follow in the ‘reports’ and ‘impacts’ sections of this 

report. 

Healthwatch members are involved in numerous committees that involve local 

people in the commissioning, provision and scrutiny of local care services.  

We offer training in meeting skills, developed with Local Authority and NHS 

partners to support participants to take part. We publicise local opportunities for 

people to take part in local, regional and national forums to influence service 

design. 

All representatives are required to report back to HWI on highlights from the 

meeting pertinent to HWI’s work. 

Boards and committees in which we have been involved in 2013-14: 

Committees which require representation from directors 

Committee Attendee 

Quarterly meeting with NHS, Adult Social 

Services, Children’s Services & Public Health 

Olav Ernstzen, Chair 

 

Health and Well-Being Board Olav Ernstzen, Chair 

 

Clinical Commissioning Group, Board Phillip Watson, Director 

 

Health Scrutiny Committee Bob Dowd, Director 

 

 

Page 13



6 

 

Committees which can be attended by any approved community member 
 

Committee Attendee 

Safeguarding Partnership Board Geraldine Pettersson, Community Member 

 

Royal Free Hospital  

Patient Experience Group 

Luigi Indri, Community Member 

Whittington Patient Experience Committee Frank Jacobs, Steering Group Member 

 

Community Voices Network  Judith Wren, Community Member 

 

Expert Patient Panel Shahbaz Choudhri, Community Member 

 

Making It Real Board (Adult Social Care) Rose McDonald, Director 

 

Homeless Forum Emma Whitby, Chief Officer 

 

Clinical Commissioning Group, Quality and 

Performance Committee 

Emma Whitby, Chief Officer 

 

 

Clinical Commissioning Group, Patient and 

Public Participation Working Group 

Emma Whitby, Chief Officer 

Health and Well-Being Board Officer’s Group  Emma Whitby, Chief Officer 

 

 

The Health and Well-Being (HWB) Board representative, chair Olav Ernstzen, 

receives briefings from the HWI Chief Officer, who also attends, to support HWI’s 

involvement at this Board. There is a close working relationship with the Board and 

HWI is now mapping planned engagement with HWB Board partners to reduce 

duplication and maximise opportunities for engaging our local community. The 

representative has also attended workshops run by the Local Government 

Association to support the involvement of local Healthwatch representatives at 

HWB Boards. Our chair has developed strong relationships with Board partners. His 

contributions to discussions have asserted our role as a credible, informed partner. 

We have made a formal presentation of some of the community feedback gathered 

to the Board.  

We have supported involvement of the community at the Health Review 

Committee to provide evidence on local service delivery including GP services and 

support for carers. We also encourage our members to attend one-off local and 

Page 14



7 

 

regional events to gather information for our work as well as networking and 

training events organised by our colleagues at Healthwatch England. 

Decisions about who sits on these boards and committees are taken by Steering 

Group members. 

 

 
 
 

(b) Enabling local people to monitor the standard of provision of local care 

services  

Volunteers lead our programme of Enter and View and Mystery Shopping to support 

gathering of evidence on local services. For a list of volunteers see appendix B. 

HWI uses its right to Enter and View in consultation with local stakeholders 

including the Care Quality Commission, the council and NHS contracts monitoring 

team and other local organisations which may be carrying out work to monitor 

services. This ensures that we both avoid duplication and also carry out visits that 

are informed by the latest findings from local partners. Details of our visits are 

included in the ‘reports’ section of this document. The Enter and View team plans 

which services to visit and this is approved by our Steering Group. 

Monitoring Urgent Care and Walk-In provision 

In 2013 – 14 we carried out one set of Enter and View visits to two sites in the 

borough. HWI was part of Camden and Islington’s Urgent Care Review Strategy 

Group and wanted to gather patient perspectives to feed in to this review. The 

local Overview Scrutiny Committee’s Health Review Committee has also been 

considering GP provision. 

Making an impact in urgent care and walk-in provision 

It’s great to see Healthwatch Islington represented on so many of our key 

boards and committees. Not only does Healthwatch Islington bring the 

voice of the community to our forums, it also plays a key role in shaping 

our engagement going forward, in particular our ambitions to lead the 

way on co-production with our service users and carers.   

London Borough of Islington, Healthwatch commissioner 

 

Page 15



8 

 

Our work, which echoed the findings of the Islington Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG), informed the borough’s Urgent Care Review and we await further 

information on the impact this work has had.  

We found that existing arrangements may not quite serve the purpose for which 

they were intended and that the local walk-in centre seemed to be over-

subscribed. Most respondents were registered with their GP. Most were satisfied 

with the urgent care and walk-in services.  

We followed up this report with some targeted work on primary care models with 

young people (under 25) including young parents. Most respondents valued seeing 

their own GP. Young parents distinguished between the type of care they might 

need and the care they might need for their child. There were mixed reactions to 

using technology to support accessing care, this solution was more popular for 

booking appointments. Respondents valued being able to walk in without an 

appointment and get a response to their concerns. They also valued not being kept 

waiting for too long once in a service. 

For more details, visit the web-site and read our Enter and View report. 

Monitoring complaints procedures at local GP practices 

The National Audit Office report, ‘Feeding Back’, 2008 highlighted the need to 

strengthen learning from Health and Social Care complaints. In 2012, the Health 

Ombudsman’s ‘Sharing Learning from Complaints’ highlighted the importance of 

ensuring that during changes to NHS structures, new complaints procedures were 

thoroughly embedded.  

Through HWI’s own signposting role we had noted how difficult it can be to find a 

definitive answer as to what the process is for making a complaint about GP 

services. Some publicly available information is ambiguous (NHS Choices) or 

contradictory (practices web-sites and NHS England).It was also noted that very 

little is required of practices in terms of what information they display. This raises 

the question of how patients would know about the complaints process.  

We wanted to find out whether there was information about complaints system 

readily available in local GP services and whether information was clear and 

accessible.  

We found information about how to make a complaint displayed in the waiting 

area either in the form of a poster or leaflet in 26 of 37 practices. In 11 practices 

we could not find a poster or a leaflet detailing information on how to make a 

complaint. It was noted that some practices had limited space for this. 

 

Page 16



9 

 

 Making an impact on GP complaints 

We are now working with local practices to provide information to staff and 

patients on the procedure for making complaints within the new NHS structures. 

NHS England have also assured us that they are now better equipped to respond to 

complaints more quickly and are collating data on complaints which will be 

presented to us at their Quality Surveillance Group meetings. 

Monitoring through local committees and existing data 

As well as supporting volunteers to visit local services using our Enter and View and 

mystery shopping programmes, members of the local community sit on a range of 

boards and committees where standards are monitored. 

In 2014 – 15 we plan to develop our use of existing information available through 

NHS and Local Authority web-sites to monitor service provision. 

(c) Obtaining the views of local people about their experiences of local 

health and social care services: 

HWI has used a range of techniques to engage with our local community and gather 

views. Staff and volunteers work together to gather views from the local 

community, our Ambassadors gather views at a wide range of local community 

events and meetings, these include regular stalls at: 

 Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

 Islington Tennis Club 

 Islington Central Library 

 Whittington Hospital 

Thank you to our local partners for their support. 

We have also gathered views and given presentations at a wide range of local 

events and drop-in sessions, see appendix C for further details. 

 Children’s Centres including Packington and Holloway 

 Children’s Voluntary Sector Forum, Carer’s Network Providers Forum,  

 Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

 Clinical Commissioning Group’s Patient and Public Participation Group, 

 Drovers Centre (older people’s day centre) 

 Drug and Alcohol services user forum,  

 Finsbury and Clerkenwell Volunteers, 

 Health and Well-Being Board,  

 Health and Well-Being Review Committee,  

 Homeless Forum,  

Page 17



10 

 

 Islington Community Network, Islington Refugee Forum,  

 Islington Community Network  

 Islington Museum as part of LGBT month 

 Learning Disability Board,  

 Local Medical Council,  

 London Metropolitan University social work students,  

 Safeguarding Board. 

We are partnership working with local organisation Disability Action in Islington to 

support engagement of Deaf service users, 

We are gradually increasing the number of members, newsletter subscribers, 

Facebook/Twitter followers and focussing most efforts on increasing our numbers 

of active volunteers. 

We have visited a range of organisations to tell them about our services (see 

appendix D) and where appropriate collected comments and offered signposting 

support. 

According to the 2011 Islington has a population of 206,100 residents (1). During 

the year 2013 – 14 we gathered views from around 250 people through Enter and 

View, surveys and out-reach work. We have received comments from 117 people 

but have engaged with a broad range of people to let them know that HWI exists. 

We will build on this work in 2014/15.  

Methods used to obtain views from our local community 

HWI is using a broad range of methods to gather views from our local community.  

 We have a phone line and an on-line comments form as well as email for 

commenting. 

 Out-reach sessions for ‘hard to reach’ people as listed above. 

 Generic out-reach and targeted out-reach in local community settings as 

listed above. 

 Targetted discussion meeting with Deaf service users using British Sign 

Language interpreters. 

We find that the face-to-face gathering of methods generally proves to be the 

most effective.  

The voice of people under 21 

We know from the 2011 census that just over 20% of our population is 19 or under 

(2).  

Page 18



11 

 

We have held focus groups to gather the views of young people on smoking 

cessation, mental health and urgent care. 

We have visited a local youth club to talk to young people about healthy eating 

and surveyed their experiences. 

We have given presentations and hosted information stalls at a local college and 

university. In March 2014 a new Steering Group member was elected to champion 

the views of children and young people. 

We are setting up a work plan with the Clinical Commissioning Group to gather 

young people’s views on local NHS services to inform the Clinical Commissioning 

Group’s Children and Young People’s Strategy (this work is taking place in early 

2014 – 15) and to consider how to involve young people effectively in our service 

visits (Enter and View). 

The voice of people over 65 

We know from the 2011 census that around 9% of our population is 65 or over. 

Adults with long-term and multiple health conditions are living longer. The 

National Audit Office, in their summary report ‘Adult Social Care in England: 

Overview’ states that the number of adults aged 85 or over is rising faster than the 

population as a whole (3).  

We have representation from Age UK Islington on our Steering Group. We have 

worked with local organisations to gather views from a wide range of people 

including older people. 

The voice of people who work or volunteer in the area 

Statistics in the 2011 census show that around 71% of the population is of working 

age (based on a working age of 19 – 64, though people may work past 65). 

In order to reach the working age population we try to organise our meetings in 

evenings and at weekends, though we recognise that not all workers work standard 

office hours. For our piece of work on Urgent Care we reached more working age 

people, because they were using walk-in services more than other age groups 

might. Our information stalls and posters at libraries, shopping centres and the 

local tennis centre are aimed at people who work or volunteer in the area. We 

have also made contact with the Finsbury Park Business Forum and a whole host of 

local voluntary organisations to reach people working and volunteering in the 

borough. 

Islington Employment Commission Co-Chair Maggie Semple commented in a press 

release on the launch of the Commission (13th February 2014, Islington Council 

web-site) that ‘Islington has great economic opportunities yet unemployment 

Page 19



12 

 

remains high’ (4). The Commission, the first of its kind in the UK, brings together 

high profile leaders from the public, private and third sectors to ask why the 

proportion of residents out of work in the borough remains high despite there 

being 1.3 jobs for every adult of working age. 

The voice of people from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds, groups 

perceived as vulnerable, people perceived as ‘seldom heard’ 

In the New Economics Foundation report for the Cripplegate Foundation ‘Distant 

Neighbours, Poverty and Inequality in Islington’ it is noted that poverty is 

intensifying in the borough (5). Islington is the fourteenth most deprived borough 

in England and has the second highest rates of child poverty in London. The report 

also highlights the high numbers of households likely to be affected by changes to 

the welfare system, around 22,100 households out of an estimated 93,600 

households counted in the 2011 census. 

The 2011 Census reports that there are 206,100 residents in the borough. It is clear 

that HWI needs to prioritise who it is going to reach. Therefore, alongside our 

programme of generic out-reach (referred to above) we also carry out more 

targeted work. Using the data from the Islington Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

we have identified particular groups that we should liaise with, see appendices C 

and D for the groups visited. 

(d) Making reports and recommendations about how local care services could 

or ought to be improved. These should be directed to commissioners and 

providers of care services and people responsible for managing or 

scrutinising local care services and shared with Healthwatch England. 

The Steering Group has the final sign off on all reports and recommendations. 

Working Groups and the Enter and View team put forward recommendations for 

any reports they have produced. Where appropriate recommendations are 

discussed with the provider or commissioner to ensure that what we recommend is 

realistic. 

All reports are submitted to the relevant provider and commissioner for a 

response. All reports are also copied to the following partners for information: 

 Care Quality Commission, Compliance Manager 

 Health Review Committee (part of the Overview Scrutiny Committee) 

 Health and Well-Being Board 

 NHS England (where relevant) 

All reports are available on our web-site and links are included below. For hard 

copies of reports, please contact HWI (see back page). 

Page 20



13 

 

 

Report Title: Older People Leaving Hospital 
(this report was produced in partnership with Age UK Islington and the Older 
People’s Reference Group) 

Service area Provider 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Hospital-based 
care 

Whittington Health 
ICO 

Yes Steps have been taken 
to reduce noise on 
wards at night, 
Steps to improve 
discharge 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/older_people_leaving_
hospital_-_whittington_health_0.pdf 

Report Title: Enter and View: Urgent Care 
 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Urgent Care 
(primary care) 

NHS England and 
Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Yes Findings informed 
development of urgent 
care models 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/enter_and_view_repor
t_on_urgent_care.pdf 

Report Title: Urgent Care: Children and Young People 
(this report was produced in partnership with Children’s Partnership 
Commissioning) 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Urgent Care 
(primary care) 

NHS England & 
Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Yes Findings fed into Urgent 
Care Strategy 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/urgent_care_children_
and_young_people.pdf 

Report Title: Home care: user’s experiences 
 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Home care (Adult 
social care) 

London Borough of 
Islington 

No Second phase of HW 
work  
Council will continue to 
work to raise awareness 
of safeguarding 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/home_care_services_j
anuary_2014_0.pdf 

Page 21

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/older_people_leaving_hospital_-_whittington_health_0.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/older_people_leaving_hospital_-_whittington_health_0.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/enter_and_view_report_on_urgent_care.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/enter_and_view_report_on_urgent_care.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/urgent_care_children_and_young_people.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/urgent_care_children_and_young_people.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/home_care_services_january_2014_0.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/home_care_services_january_2014_0.pdf


14 

 

Report Title: Mystery Shopping: GP Complaints 
(this piece of work was developed in collaboration with Healthwatch Barnet) 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

GP services 
 

NHS England N Speeding up of NHSE’s 
dealing with complaints 
Working with local 
practices to better 
promote complaints 
procedure 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/mystery_shopping_gp_
complaints.pdf 
 

Report title: Long-term Conditions Survey 
(this piece of work involved local groups Disability Action in Islington and Body & 
Soul) 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Primary and 
secondary care 
 

Islington CCG Y Findings add to 
information gathered to 
develop integrated and 
self-supported care 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_long-
term_conditions_surveys.pdf 
 

Report Title: Deaf Service User’s Experience of Hospital services 
(this piece of work was developed in partnership with Disability Action In Islington) 
 

Service area Commissioners 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Hospital based 
interpreting 

Royal Free Hospital 
University College 
Hospital 
Whittington Health 

Y 
Y 
 
N 

Improvements to 
patient letters in RFH 
and UCH, increased 
Deaf awareness training 
in RFH and UCH and a 
working group to discuss 
how to tackle the issues 
raised at Whittington 
Health.  

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_deaf_servic
e_user_event.pdf 
 
 
 
 

Page 22

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/mystery_shopping_gp_complaints.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/mystery_shopping_gp_complaints.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_long-term_conditions_surveys.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_long-term_conditions_surveys.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_deaf_service_user_event.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_deaf_service_user_event.pdf


15 

 

Report Title: Refugee Forum Event report 
(this report was developed in partnership with Islington Refugee Forum) 

Service area Commissioner 20 day 
response 

Actions resulting 

Primary Care CCG Y Developing a new model 
of primary care access 
for refugee and migrant 
community members 

Full report: 
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/refugee_forum_event_
report_2014.pdf 
 

 

(e) providing advice and information about access to local care services so 

choices can be made about services 

HWI’s signposting service can provide information on local health, social care and 
well-being services and offer assistance to guide people through this if they need 
that support. 
 
We want to make our signposting service as accessible as possible within the 

constraints we are operating in. Our office hours are 9:00 to 17:00, but by the 

nature of our work the staff team are often not in the office. People can contact 

us by email, in writing (we offer a Freepost address) and through the web-site but 

as we want to reach people who may not be aware of our service we also visit local 

community groups and offer signposting at our information stalls. 

Method of contact 
Number of contacts  

(as at 31/03/2014) 

Email 8 

Letter 1 

Meeting 1 

Out-reach 47 

Phone call 123 

Web Enquiry 2 

Other 2 

Grand Total 186 

 
 

Page 23

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/refugee_forum_event_report_2014.pdf
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/sites/default/files/refugee_forum_event_report_2014.pdf


16 

 

 
 

The service is delivered at a range of local organisations who are working with a 

series of equalities groups defined through established criteria, at the Healthwatch 

office and over the phone. The equalities criteria are based on recent Islington 

health and social data (Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – JSNA - NHS Islington 

2010/11); (Adult Joint Commissioning Strategy – AJCS Islington Council and NHS 

North Central London 2012/17) and recent consultation with local and national 

organisations (Healthwatch Islington – September 2013). 

We have also worked with four local groups to deliver signposting workshops to 

their staff and volunteers so that local organisations are more able to signpost 

their service users on issues such as how to find their nearest local services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The service cannot recommend particular providers, tell people what to do, give 

opinions about what people should do; or give clinical advice on medical 

interventions or conditions. Where HWI identifies a number of appropriate 

organisations for signposting, these may be shortlisted on the basis of discussion 

with the client to ensure the most relevant information is provided. We will, 

where possible, take account of a person’s language and cultural needs and/or 

access requirements. 

 

Although we are not commissioned to carry out complaints advocacy, we do 

support people to find the information they need to make a complaint or signpost 

If you hadn’t rung me, I would still be at home not knowing what to do. 

I had tried contacting many agencies but nobody got back 

 

Islington resident thanking staff at Healthwatch for their help.(We’ll 

always ring you back) 

[the signposting session] was really great and I got really good feedback 

from the parents as they do not often get such opportunity to speak out 

and listen their concern in a calm and comfortable environment, I hope 

you will again visit us in the other Centres. 

Bilingual Family Support and Outreach Worker at Canonbury Area 

Page 24



17 

 

them to our colleagues at Voiceability who run the NHS complaints advocacy 

service for Islington. 

 

 
 

Between April 2013 and March 2014 we provided 186 local residents with 

information about local services. Although Local Healthwatch took on their 

signposting function from 1st April 2013, our service has been most active since 

October 2013 once staff were recruited to a Signposting and Out-reach Officer 

post. Uptake of the service has continued to increase. 

Period covered Number of queries 

Quarter 1 (April to June 2013) 24 

Quarter 2 (July to September 2013) 34 

Quarter 3 (October to December 2013) 48 

Quarter 4 (January to March 2014) 80 

Total 186 

 

We are recruiting a volunteer to go back through these enquiries and measure 

satisfaction and gather monitoring data so that we can further develop this service 

in 2014/15. We have discussed signposting service models with  

For further information, please see our ‘Gathering Views and Providing 

Information’ report on the web-site. 

(f) Reaching views on the matters mentioned in subsection 3 [the standards 

of care, and whether and how standards can be improved] and making 

those views known to the Healthwatch England committee of the Care 

Quality Commission; 

All of HWI’s reports and recommendations are shared with our local Care Quality 

Commission Compliance Manager. These reports and recommendations are based 

If there is a problem with their treatment patients want clear and 

simple information about how to complain and the process should 

be easy to navigate. 

Olav Ernstzen, Healthwatch Islington Chair 

Page 25



18 

 

on discussions with our working groups which involve members of our local 

community. 

(g) Making recommendations to the Healthwatch England committee of the 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) to advise CQC about special reviews or 

investigations to conduct (or, where the circumstances justify doing so, 

making such recommendations direct to the Commission); 

In this, our first year, it has not been necessary for HWI to make any 

recommendations to the Healthwatch England committee of the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) to advise CQC about special reviews or investigations to conduct 

during the year 2013 – 14.  

We are in regular contact with our CQC Compliance Manager and the London 

representative of Healthwatch England. We have developed strong and open 

working relationships with them should we have any concerns that need reporting. 

Although we have not raised any formal concerns with these partners we have 

discussed concerns about how HWI can fulfil its role in influencing commissioning 

and signposting when some new commissioning structures are difficult to contact. 

Any decisions on this matter would be made by the Steering Group. 

(h) Making recommendations to the Healthwatch England committee of the 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) to publish reports under section 45C(3) 

[these are reports on standards] of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 

about particular matters; and 

In this, our first year, it has not been necessary for HWI to make any 

recommendations to the Healthwatch England committee of the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) to publish reports on standards. We work with our local partners 

to discuss standards and took part in the Commission’s work to develop its 

inspections process. Any decision on this matter would be made by the Steering 

Group. 

(i) Giving the Healthwatch England committee of the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) such assistance as it may require to enable it to carry 

out its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. 

The Healthwatch England committee of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) has not 

requested assistance from HWI during the year 2013 – 14.  

We are in regular contact with our CQC Compliance Manager London 

representative at Healthwatch England should they need to contact us. 

Healthwatch England asked us to meet with Lord Harris of Haringey, a champion 

for Healthwatch within Parliament. Healthwatch Haringey and Healthwatch 

Islington met with him on 10th April 2014 to discuss the work of Local Healthwatch. 

Page 26



19 

 

 

Achievements in year one 

 

Setting Up Healthwatch Islington 

In Healthwatch Islington’s first year it was necessary to allocate time and 

resources to setting up as an organisation. This included recruiting a staff team 

and volunteers to carry out our activities, developing strong governance and 

policies and establishing contact with key local partners. Then we began carrying 

out work related to key areas of interest to our local population. 

Improving services for Deaf patients in local hospitals 

Local Hospitals Royal Free London, University College Hospital have agreed to 

ensure that all patient letters to Deaf patients who use British Sign Language will 

include information on whether an interpreter has been booked, the gender of the 

interpreter, and an SMS or email address (instead of just a telephone number) for 

any enquiries relating to the appointment. 

Whittington Health has agreed to set up a task group involving patients, the 

appointments team and IT team to discuss how this can be tackled within their 

organisation. 

As a result of the attending the event we held with Deaf service users in January, 

the Royal Free London Hospital is now planning to deliver more Deaf awareness 

training for staff. The training will be delivered by Action for Hearing Loss and the 

first date is booked for July.  

At University College London Hospital (UCLH), where Deaf patients had 

experienced difficulties knowing when it was their turn to be seen, a trial of the 

use of vibrating buzzers has been successfully completed. The buzzers will be in 

use in all hospital departments by July.  

Again at UCLH, an audit is being carried out to check that staff involved in booking 

interpreters are contacting Deaf patients to confirm that British Sign Language 

(BSL) interpreters have been booked. The audit will be completed for the end of 

July.  

Page 27



20 

 

Our local work also helped to inform the debate in the House of Lords on the 

health of Deaf People which took place at the end of March.  

 

 

Developing an information service to help people find the care they need 

‘Simon’ 

Healthwatch Islington (HWI) is keen for its service to have a broad reach and to 

consider people’s health and well-being needs, helping residents stay healthy, as 

well as helping them when they are not well. 

We have been publicising the service to a broad range of local services and public 

places: sports centres, care homes, pharmacies, libraries and sheltered 

accommodation to name a few. 

Healthwatch discovered North London Cares when we were contacted by ‘Simon’*, 

who is 80 years old and lives in sheltered accommodation. ‘Simon’ has leg ulcers 

and finds it very difficult to stand or walk (for cooking). He also confessed to being 

‘bored out of his mind’. He found out about our information service when a 

Healthwatch postcard dropped through his letterbox. He wanted our help finding 

somebody to come in and help him with his cooking. He also told us he’d love a 

Scrabble partner to play the board game Scrabble with. 

 

 
 

 

The Royal Free London is proactively working to improve patient access to 

services, access to information and access to communication support. The 

Camden Sensory Forum Short-Life Project group has focused our attention on 

sensory access needs, However the Healthwatch Islington Report focuses 

purely on our Deaf community which has afforded the opportunity to look at 

very specific access needs of one patient group. We look forward to 

circulating further updates to our Healthwatch partners in September 2014. 

Debbie Sanders, Director of Nursing, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust                                                        

 

It’s great to have a central service for older people to go to for advice and 
assistance on accessing health and social care. 
 
Co-ordinator from a local organisation supporting older people 

Page 28



21 

 

‘Simon’ had never contacted Adult Social Services and was not aware that they 

might be able to assist him. ‘Simon’ told us that he was better with information 

when it was written down, rather than given over the phone, so we posted him 

details of the support the council provided, as well as information about Age UK 

Islington. 

 

We called ‘Simon’ back a couple of weeks later to see how he had got on. He was 

yet to contact any of the services. So we asked ‘Simon’ for permission to make the 

calls on his behalf. (We won’t do this for everybody but will where we judge 

people need that little bit of extra support to access services.) 

 

We contacted the council to alert them to Simon’s situation. He is now on the 

waiting list for an assessment visit.  

 

In the meantime we’d found out about North London Cares and the support they 

provide for older people who are isolated and would like some company. This 

sounded perfect for ‘Simon’. We contacted Sarah, the Programme Coordinator, 

and she went round to meet ‘Simon’, so she could match him up with a young 

volunteer with similar interests.  

 

‘I felt 25 my whole life, and lived as if I was. But it comes very suddenly, old age’ 

reflected ‘Simon’, when he met volunteer Ben for the first time, a couple of weeks 

ago. We hear that on Ben’s next visit they plan to chat about painting and the 

theatre. They’ll also be getting out the Scrabble set. 

 
* names have been changed 

 

Orthodontic treatment 

 

During a school half term in Islington many parents took the opportunity to get 

their children to the dentist. The Healthwatch staff who provide information about 

local services helped a number of those parents with concerns over orthodontic 

referrals. Orthodontic treatment, or teeth straightening, is free on the NHS for 

children who need it.  

The problem comes when your dentist refers you to an orthodontic practice with a 

very long waiting list. You have the right to choice under the NHS, and in this 

particular case, there is a wide choice. That is because orthodontic practices, 

unlike GP surgeries, rarely insist that you live within a narrow geographical area. 

And although some have long waiting lists, others have short lists or no list at all.  

 

We armed those parents with a list of alternative providers, and shared the 

Page 29



22 

 

information with the practice manager at a local dental centre. We want to 

empower local residents to make informed decisions about their own healthcare. 

It's about getting all the options straight - not just your teeth. 

 

Using the Equality Delivery System - Informing the development of staff training 

in local services 

HWI worked with Islington Clinical Commissioning Group on their Equality Delivery 

Scheme (an NHS scheme that helps NHS services make sure they are making 

services accessible). 

In March 2013 we gathered together 20 local organisations representing users with 

a range of needs such as homeless, carers and Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 

Communities. Together with Islington Clinical Commissioning Group we rated their 

services against the given criteria. We then discussed an area on which to focus 

efforts going forward. As a result it was agreed that reception staff in primary care 

would all be offered training in supporting patients as individuals, recognising that 

we all have individual needs. In May and June 2014 that training has been 

delivered to staff across primary care in Islington. HWI will be mystery shopping 

soon to see what the results are. 

Ideas are also being considered in terms of developing navigators and other roles 

that support people to access service in the borough. We want this to include 

culturally aware and sensitive navigation of services. We have been working closely 

with our NHS partners to influence training for future and current staff to make 

sure that all staff think ‘patients first’.  

This work continues and is integral to the borough’s work on integration. The 

London Borough of Islington has been selected as a Pioneer for the joining together 

of health and care services by the Department of Health. All of this should mean 

that services are easier for us all to use.  

Using the Equality Delivery System – Tailored services & Measuring uptake of 

services 

HWI identified a gap in the qualitative research obtained from local communities – 

with little representation from the local Islington refugee and migrant community 

and that local refugee community organisations wanted more information about 

changes to local services following the Health and Social Care Act 2012. So HWI 

held a joint event with Islington Refugee Forum to inform community groups of the 

changes and start a conversation with the CCG about developing service that meet 

this community’s needs. These discussions fed in to the Equality Delivery Scheme 

discussion for 2014 /15. 

 

Page 30



23 

 

It was also agreed that the Clinical Commissioning Group would urge GPs to focus 

on better collection of monitoring data on patients so that GPs are able to refer 

people on to specialist services, for example, for carers or for culturally sensitive 

support for people for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) 

communities. 

 

Home Care 

 

In April 2013 local community members voted for HWI’s work plan to include 

research into the quality of home care services.   

Media attention in 2012 and 2013 has focused on home care services following 

various national reports on its inadequacies. The Equality and Human Rights 

Commission report ‘Close to home’ highlighted inadequacies in home care provided 

to older people. ‘Time to Care’, a Unison report into home care services published 

in October 2012, highlighted the strains placed on care workers and published 

guidance for councils and contractors on a staff charter. The Care Quality 

Commission’s Review of Home Care, ‘Not Just a Number’ published in February 

2013 found evidence of good care, but raised some concerns about continuity of 

care workers, staff training and appraisals and late and missed calls. The 

Cavendish Review, July 2013, highlighted inconsistencies in care being delivered. 

The survey seemed timely because Islington Council is in the process of re-

tendering its home care service with a new contract to start in March 2014. In a 

letter to local newspaper the Islington Tribune, published 16th August 2013, the 

then leader of the council, Cllr Catherine West, set out some of the council’s 

commitments when re-tendering for provision. The council will require providers 

to ensure that home care visits are at least thirty minutes and to pay home care 

workers the London Living Wage. 

We carried out thirty qualitative interviews with local service users to gather a 

picture of people’s experiences. Generally people were satisfied with services, 

though we made recommendations, based on the findings, that work to promote 

safeguarding procedures be continued. We will continue this work in year two. 

Improving information on complaints about GP services 

We know that complaints about GPs have dipped since complaints handling 

transferred from Primary Care Trusts to NHS England. Following our mystery 

shopping visits to local GP practices, HWI is now working with the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and local practices to ensure that clear information about 

complaints processes is available in all local practices. 

 

Page 31



24 

 

Building relationships with local stakeholders 
 
Through our representation on local boards and committees and our work to 

develop relationships with local statutory and voluntary sector partners, HWI is 

establishing itself as a credible partner in the borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The commitment, enthusiasm and professionalism of Healthwatch Islington 

staff, directors and volunteers in their first year has resulted in excellent 

relationships with key stakeholders. It has put them in a great place to be 

involved in and influence the changes ahead for social care in Islington, in 

particular with older people’s services.   

London Borough of Islington, Director of Adult Social Care.  

 

Healthwatch Islington are a key partner for Islington Clinical 

Commissioning Group. They provide support, feedback and 

assistance with the patient experience and engagement work we 

undertake. We have worked in partnership with them on several 

projects, with more planned for the year ahead. Through working 

with Healthwatch Islington we have been able to reach out to the 

wider Islington community, hearing from groups who we have not 

previously been able to engage with. Their community expertise has 

also helped us to address certain key health issues. In addition, their 

independent projects directly relate to Islington Clinical 

Commissioning Group key priorities (e.g. Supporting people with 

Long term Conditions) and have been used as evidence within our 

commissioning plan. 

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Page 32



25 

 

Improving hospital services for older people, including hospital discharge 

HWI helps to raise standards of care for older people leaving hospital. The Older 

Peoples Reference Group enables older people to comment on issues that affect 

them. Their feedback can then be used to help improve services.  

In 2013, HWI and the Older People’s Reference Group worked together to gather 

older people’s experiences of leaving hospital. This was in response to concerns 

expressed by members of the group about untimely discharge from hospital. The 

reason for the concern was partly due to personal experience, as well as some high 

profile cases in the media.  

We held a focus group to gather older people’s experiences of leaving hospital. We 

published a report on the findings in July 2013. We identified some important 

areas for improvement.  

In November 2013, Whittington Health came to talk to the group about the positive 

changes that had been made at the Whittington, following on from the report's 

recommendations: 

We said They did 

In all hospital discharge cases (following 

both planned and emergency treatment) 

there needs to be a robust procedure in 

place for three way communication and 

an agreed discharge plan with the 

patient fully involved. 

Improved planning for discharge with 

clearer lines of responsibility and 

revamped checklist for planning. 
 

Ensure that discharge procedures take 

into account the additional 

communication required (due to 

unplanned admission) for emergency 

patients.  

Remind staff and patients to be 

conscious of how much noise travels 

around the ward at night, and to have 

consideration for patients who may be 

trying to sleep or rest.  

 

Piloting ear plugs and eye masks on 

wards to help patients sleep.  Co-

ordinate with other areas of the 

Hospital, so that if one ward is 

struggling to meet demand, staff or 

appropriately skilled managers can 

temporarily join this ward to assist and 

support colleagues.  

Page 33



26 

 

We said They did 

Ensure that discharge is carried out 

consistently across the hospital, actively 

involving patients in their on-going care, 

and that good practice is shared and 

encouraged.  

 

A follow up phone call scheme with Age 

UK for older people being discharged on 

a Friday (Age UK phone older people 

who didn’t need/ said they didn’t need 

any follow up care to check that they 

are OK the day after they’ve left 

hospital).  

 Stronger team working for those leaving 

after short stays.  

When communicating with patients 

about follow on and social care all staff 

should answer patient questions with 

consideration of their concerns and be 

able to provide clear, non-partial 

information about how social care is 

allocated.  

 

Working with staff in the hospital to 

increase staff understanding of the 

resources available in the community 

for people leaving hospital care (who 

may not be eligible for social care)  

 

Simplifying their information leaflets for 

patients about what to expect when 

leaving hospital.  

 

 

HWI have also recommended that further consultations with patients, both through 

small focus groups and larger surveys, should be conducted on a regular basis (at 

the very least annually) to look at making improvements and maintaining the 

quality of service for hospital patients.  

 

Page 34



27 

 

 

 Restricted £ Unrestricted £ Total £ 

Income    
Grant, London Borough of Islington 176,200 0 176,200 
Transition monies, London Borough of Islington 8,986 0 8,986 

Total income 185,186 0 185,186 
 

Expenditure    

Staff costs 92,797.96 0 92,797.96 

Directors support (training, access, travel) 1,224.70 0 1,224.70 

Office space 12,301.00 0 12,301.00 

Office costs 3,929.59 0 3,929.59 

Finance and compliance 6,214.55 0 6,214.55 

Healthwatch activities    

     Access costs 2,728.73 0 2,728.73 

     Conference attendance 60.00 0 60.00 

     Signposting (interim consultant) 7,651.56 0 7,651.56 

     Events 579.45 0 579.45 

     Meetings 1,780.41 0 1,780.41 

     Promotion and publicity 4,831.27 0 4,831.27 

     Training courses 2,417.30 0 2,417.30 

     Volunteer expenses 290.90 0 290.90 

     Other project costs 202.90 0 202.90 

Total expenditure 137,010.32 0.00 137,010.32 

    

Net income (expenditure) for the year 48,175.68 0.00 48,175.68 

Fund balances brought forward (2013-14) 0 0 0 

Fund balances carried forward (2014-15) 48,175.68 0.00 48,175.68 

 

Our grant agreement permits us to carry forward underspend in year one to use for 

years two and three. Underspend arose because of the time taken to recruit staff. 

The Board has overall responsibility for our finances. However, spend on 

Healthwatch activities is discussed and approved by the Steering Group. 

 

Page 35



28 

 

 

     Healthwatch Islington Work Plan 2014 -15 
This work plan focuses on the themes that (Healthwatch Islington) HWI has identified to work on in the year 2014 – 15. For 

information on the organisation’s strategic plan, please see our web-site. We are currently working on the vision and mission 

statements for our organisation. 

HWI’s remit is to gather views, report views, visit services and engage people in decision-making about health and care services 

in order to influence commissioning, provision and delivery of those services. We also offer information on services to local 

residents. 

There are many issues that HWI could tackle. When setting our work plan we consider whether an issue is being considered 

already by others in the borough and how we could add value to that; who is affected by the issue (not just the numbers of 

people affected but how vulnerable those service users may be); and whether there is a chance of actually being able to make 

an impact on the service area. Local individuals and organisations can present ideas to us which, where capacity allows, we will 

then scope. We also aware of issues of concern through comments people give us, signposting queries that local people raise,  

local data sets and information we are made aware of at the Health and Well-Being Board and through our conversations with 

key local partners. 

The following plan outlines our aims for 2014 – 15. 

1. Gathering views of Children and Young People on a health strategy for the borough 
 Impact we want to achieve: Increase the involvement of children and young people in HWI activity. 

 How we want to achieve that: Working with the CCG to carry out focus groups with local young people and children 

gathering their views on health services. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (short-term): The views collected will directly inform the borough’s strategy. 

Next steps 
Annual 
Report 

2014 

P
age 36



29 

 

 How we will know we have had an impact (long-term): Services will better meet the needs of young people – but we 

need to consider how we can measure this. 

 Completion date: June 2015 

 

2. Improving access to interpreting services within primary care 
 Impact we want to achieve: Improved access to interpreting services within primary care for people whose first language 

is not English. We will work with the Clinical Commissioning Group to complement their work on interpreting and 
advocacy. 

 How we want to achieve that: Speak to primary care practitioners about the barriers to using Language Line. Look for 

examples of good and poor practice. Gather evidence from mystery shopping and discussions with local community 

organisations. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (short-term):  A base line of evidence will demonstrate the issue and create 

an incentive for change. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (long-term): All primary care providers will be offering interpreting services 

consistently, measured by a follow up mystery shop. 

 Completion date: December 2015 

 

3. Mental health access and advocacy 
 Impact we want to achieve: People with mental health needs get support as early as possible 

 How we want to achieve that: Map the services on offer, discuss with local organisations any pressure points within 

systems, gather views from users on barriers to access. 

 How we will know we have had an impact: Data will show increase in uptake of earlier support through mental health 

services. 

 Completion date: December 2014 

 

 

P
age 37



30 

 

4. Gathering the views and experiences of home care service users 
 Impact we want to achieve: Home care services that are informed by the needs and experiences of local service users. 

 How we want to achieve that: Carry out service user interviews to gather views on what works well about services and 

what can be improved. 

 How we will know we have had an impact: Our research will result in robust recommendations which are then 

implemented by local commissioners. 

 Completion date: March 2015 

 

5. Customer service in GP receptions 

This follows on from work we started with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) last year in which HWI and local organisations 

agreed an Equality Objective for the CCG of ensuring that front-line staff in GP practice treat patients holistically and are 

mindful of our needs such as Learning Disability, carer, mental health need. 

 Impact we want to achieve: Evaluate the impact of recent training on GP reception staff.  

 How we want to achieve that: Mystery shopping practices to assess attitudes of reception staff to specifically people 

with Sensory Impairment and also to Children and Young People. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (short-term): Reports show that attitudes are positive. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (long-term): Rolling programme of training for front-line staff will be adopted 

and continue. 

 

6. Measuring ‘user friendliness’ of local safeguarding procedures 
 Impact we want to achieve: Identify potential barriers to reporting a Safeguarding alert for voluntary sector 

organisations and members of the local community. 

 How we want to achieve that: Develop some case studies based on local experiences of reporting. 

P
age 38



31 

 

 How we will know we have had an impact (short-term): Procedures for raising Safeguarding alerts will be clear to those 
reporting and followed consistently by those receiving alerts. 
 

7. Meetings to discuss key issues such as care.data in July and three further ‘theme-based’ meetings (Sept & 

Nov 2014 and Jan 2015) 

 Impact we want to achieve: Local people are more informed about national policy issue. 
Other items for consideration (to be confirmed): Impact of the Care Bill, Impact of the Children and Families Bill, 
Preventative Health Measures (may need to be a different format), Employment Commission. 

 How we will know we have had an impact (short-term): Feedback from event will show that people feel more informed 
about issues discussed. 
 

8. Further issues to scope 
a) How we embed questions about Mental Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty Standards in our Enter and View visits, 

b) Access to health care for those being discharged from prison, 

c) Uptake of cancer screening programmes, to be discussed with Cancer Research UK, 

d) Supporting GPs to identify and signpost carers, to be discussed with Carer’s Hub and Centre 404, 

e) Gathering feedback from children and young people on specific services targeted at them, such as weight management 

programmes, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and children with disabilities. 

 

9. Local systems and processes 

We also aim to feed in to the following processes with local commissioners and NHS providers wherever possible: 

 Equality Delivery System – annual scheme for rating how NHS commissioners and providers meet their duties under the 

Equality Act. 

P
age 39



32 

 

 Quality Accounts – annual report from Trusts which can include commentary from HWI (if we have collected data to share 

on this). 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment/ Health and Well-Being Strategy 

We will also continue our programmes of targeted and general out-reach within the local community to gather views and 

signpost local people. We will continue to seek out opportunities to raise our profile so that more service users can reach us. We 

will hold an annual Fair in June 2014 to celebrate our achievements so far. 

Although this is an annual plan where capacity permits we may be able to undertake other areas of work. Please feel free to 

contribute issues to Emma Whitby, Chief Officer at HWI. It would be helpful if you can also provide any information to support 

these contributions. 

 P
age 40



33 

 

 

References 
 

 

 

 

(1) London Borough of Islington presentation, ‘Islington: Census 2011, Second 

Release, 11th December 2011 

http://www.vai.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/2012-Census-Islington-

Summary.pdf 

(2) Census Information Scheme GLA Intelligence, 2011 Census first results p9 

 

(3) Census Information Scheme GLA Intelligence, 2011 Census first results p9 

 

(4) Press release, Islington Council, 13th February 2014 

 

https://www.islington.gov.uk/islington/news-events/news-

releases/2014/02/Pages/PR5178.aspx 

 

(5) Distant Neighbours: Poverty and Inequality in Islington 

A report for Cripplegate Foundation by nef (the new economics foundation), 

2013 

 

Page 41

http://www.vai.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/2012-Census-Islington-Summary.pdf
http://www.vai.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/2012-Census-Islington-Summary.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/islington/news-events/news-releases/2014/02/Pages/PR5178.aspx
https://www.islington.gov.uk/islington/news-events/news-releases/2014/02/Pages/PR5178.aspx


34 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A: Steering Group members during the year 2013 – 14 

Individuals 

Clara Boerkamp (Financial Advisor) 

Bob Dowd (director) 

Dave Emmett 

Olav Ernstzen (chair & director) 

Lynda Finn 

Frank Jacobs 
Elizabeth Jones 
Rose McDonald (director) 

Shelagh Prosser (director) 

Christine Taylor (director) 

Pam Zinkin 

 

Organisations 

Age UK Islington 

Body and Soul (working across London with people with HIV) 

Disability Action in Islington 

Islington Borough User Group (group supporting residents with mental health 

needs) 

Islington Voluntary Sector Health Network (working with Voluntary Sector 

organisations in the borough which have an interest in health and well-being 

services), Phill Watson (director) 

Music for People (group supporting residents with mental health needs) 

 

For details of our membership for 2014 – 15, please see our web-site. 

 

 

Appendices 
Annual 
Report 

2014 

Page 42



35 

 

 

Appendix B 

Enter and View team members 

 Islington Borough User Group (group supporting residents with mental health 

needs) 

 Sue Cartwright 

 Jenni Chan 

 Viv Duckett 

 Olav Ernstzen 

 Lynda Finn 

 A Fletcher 

 Frank Jacobs 

 Elizabeth Jones 

 Gerry McMullan 

 Geraldine Pettersson 

 Alessandra Ragona Cardoso 

 Natalie Teich 

Page 43



36 

 

Appendix C 

Organisations visited for gathering views and giving presentations 

 Children’s Centres including Packington and Holloway, 

 Children’s Voluntary Sector Forum, Carer’s Network Providers Forum,  

 Citizen’s Advice Bureau, 

 Clinical Commissioning Group’s Patient and Public Participation Group, 

 Drovers Centre, 

 Drug and Alcohol services user forum,  

 Finsbury and Clerkenwell Volunteers 

 Health and Well-Being Board,  

 Health and Well-Being Review Committee,  

 Homeless Forum,  

 Islington Community Network,  

 Islington Museum as part of LGBT month, 

 Islington Refugee Forum,  

 Learning Disability Board,  

 Local Medical Council,  

 Local University, London Metropolitan, social work students 

 Safeguarding Board. 

 

Page 44



37 

 

 

Appendix D: List of organisations visited relating to our signposting service 

 Al-Ashraf Association, local Somali group, 

 Arachne Turkish Cypriot Women’s Organisation, 

 Bedford Housing, local housing association which also carries out user 

involvement activities, 

 Bi-Lingual support Advisor co-ordinator, 

 Cally and Bemerton community centres, 

 Carila - Latin American Welfare Group, 

 Caris – support for homeless people, 

 CASA (Community Alcohol Service) coffee morning, 

 Community Language Support Service, 

 Community Hubs Meeting for local community centres, 

 Elfrida – supporting people with Learning Disabilities, 

 Epilepsy Society, 

 Eritrean Community in the UK, 

 Finfuture – businesses in the Finsbury park area, 

 Finsbury Park Mosque, 

 Fit Womens Group, women-only fitness sessions aimed at women on the 

Bemerton estate (a localised area identified as being of high socio-economic 

deprivation), 

 Freightliners Farm, inner-city farm offering activities to the whole 

community, 

 Hanley Crouch ‘stay and play’ for pre-school children and their parents/ 

guardians/ carers, 

 Hillside Clubhouse Community Mental Health Service, 

 Holloway School, 

 ISIS – one-stop shop for people experiencing substance misuse, 

 Islington Bangladeshi Association, 

 Islington Carers Hub, 

 Islington Mind  - mental health charity, 

 Islington Refugee Forum, 

 Jannaty – Muslim social group, 

 Kurdish and Middle Eastern Women’s Group, 

 Let’s Get Talking, support for people with mental health needs, 

 Mildmay Community Centre for several sessions including International 

Women’s Day, 

 Mind Yourself – mental health support for the Irish community, 

 Mosaada – education and support for BME women, 

Page 45



38 

 

 New River Green Children’s Centre, 

 North London Cares – support for older people in Camden and Islington, 

 Packington Children’s Centre, 

 Peel Centre – day centre, 

 St. Mungo’s, support for homeless people, 

 Solace Women’s Aid, women’s support group offering a range of services 

including support for women experiencing domestic violence, 

 Somali Speakers Association, 

 Women’s Therapy Centre – International Women’s Day. 

 

 

Page 46



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
GP APPOINTMENTS SYSTEMS 

 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEALTH AND CARE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

London Borough of Islington 
October 2014 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



1 

 

 

Contents 

Chair’s Foreword ............................................................................................................................ 2 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Key recommendations: .................................................................................................................. 4 

Additional recommendations: ......................................................................................................... 4 

Membership of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee – 2014/15 ........................................... 6 

Scrutiny Initiation Document and Framing of the Review ........................................................... 7 

Evidence from Islington LINk ......................................................................................................... 7 

Evidence from NHS North Central London ................................................................................... 9 

Evidence from GPs and GP representatives............................................................................... 10 

Evidence from Patients ................................................................................................................ 13 

Evidence from Acute Hospital Trust ........................................................................................... 16 

Progress of the Review ................................................................................................................ 18 

Consideration of Draft Recommendations ................................................................................. 19 

Chair’s Interim Report .................................................................................................................. 19 

Draft recommendations – ............................................................................................................ 21 

Healthwatch GP Mystery Shopping Exercise ............................................................................. 22 

Presentation of Draft recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board ........................... 23 

Report from the Primary Care Foundation - “Improving Access and Urgent Care in General 

Practice” ........................................................................................................................................ 23 

Conclusion .................................................................................................................................... 27 

APPENDIX A – ............................................................................................................................... 29 

APPENDIX B – ............................................................................................................................... 30 

Background ................................................................................................................................. 30 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



2 

 

 
 
Chair’s Foreword 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Councillor Martin Klute – Chair, Health and Care Scrutiny Committee 

Page 49



3 

 

Executive Summary 
 

GP Appointments Systems Scrutiny Review 
 
Aim 
 
The review was started with the aim of assessing the performance of GP appointment systems and 
the service provided to residents. 
 
 
Objectives of the Review 

 
1. To assess how effective urgent and non-urgent appointment systems are and how these vary 

across the borough. 
 

2. To examine GP appointments against current targets and identify any under-performing areas. 

 
3. To collect evidence of patient experiences and assess any unmet needs. 

 
 

 
Evidence 

 
The review ran from November 2012 until September 2014 and evidence was received from a 
variety of sources including Islington Clinical Commissioning Group, Islington Health Watch, North 
Central London NHS Trust, GPs, Patients and the Primary Care Foundation. 
 
Following agreement of the Scrutiny Initiative Document (set out in APPENDIX A); officers designed 
a work programme for the Committee meetings, visits and documentary evidence. 
 
The submissions are detailed in the minutes of the meetings of the Health Scrutiny Committee on 
the Council Democracy website (http://democracy.islington.gov.uk/) or from Democratic Services at 
the Town Hall (Tel: 020 7527 3308). 
 

Page 50



4 

 

Key recommendations: 
 
1. Core and extended hours: That NHS England (London) works with ICCG and local GPs to 

develop GP surgery opening hours that offer core and extended opening hours (evenings and 7 
days per week) that are adequate and appropriate to meet the population’s needs across the 
borough, including access for key population groups, e.g. working age adults. The extended 
hours offer should ideally be shared and co-ordinated across the Borough with cover being 
rotated between practices. 

 
2. Performance benchmarking: That NHSE works with the CCG, LMC and GP practices to agree 

and establish voluntary performance bench marks across the Borough for provision of 
appointments.  Benchmarking should be based on the research findings of the Primary Care 
Foundation’s (PCF) report ‘Access and urgent care in general practice - Islington CCG’  (see 
appendix 1), and should include ongoing monitoring (at intervals) of length of appointments, 
average number of appointments per patient per annum, % of patients seen by GP compared 
to other health professionals, length of phone calls taken by receptionists, availability of 
reception staff at key times, and balance of same day and book-ahead appointments.  The 
PCF’s recommendations on the appropriate levels for these benchmarks should be taken as a 
starting point, with GP practices allowed to deviate from these benchmarks on the basis of 
justifying any deviation.  Benchmarking is proposed in order to reduce variability of accessibility 
and patient experience in obtaining appointments, which is a quality issue for the service. 

 
3. Book-ahead appointments: The window for book-ahead appointments should be extended to 

six weeks as standard, following the recommendations of the PCF. 
 
4. Means of making an appointment: All GP practices should offer a choice of access options for 

making appointments, including telephone, internet, and face-to-face, in order to achieve 
equality of access for all patient groups. 

 
5. Long term conditions: That patient management plans and allocation of a named GP be 

established for patients with long-term conditions.  Where patients require regular or repeat 
appointments, the appointment should be made by the doctor to avoid the patient having to 
repeatedly re-book under the daily appointment system.   

 
6. Social support functions: That GP practices, LBI and the CCG work jointly to establish an 

alternative approach to providing social support services currently provided by GPs, such as 
school sick notes and letters in support of housing applications, to enable GPs to concentrate 
on core medical responsibilities. An example of an alterative approach would be, in the case of 
school sick notes, school nurses could be trained to assess children’s fitness for school, in 
order to avoid taking up GP appointment slots. 

 
7. Telephone access:  That NHSE and ICCG work with all GP practices across the borough to 

ensure training of reception staff, including the use of a script as a basis for taking calls, to 
ensure staffing levels are appropriate to match demand at peak times, and that GP practices 
support their reception staff on an ongoing basis. Where telephone triage is used, this should 
be carried out in accordance with agreed protocols on best practice, to maximise the possibility 
that all patients have a positive experience, and to ensure that vulnerable patients are not 
challenged or distressed by their initial contact with the service. 

 
 

Additional recommendations: 
 
1. Procurement of additional GP services and premises:  That a mechanism be established jointly 

between NHSE, ICCG and LBI Planning department to assess demand for GP services across 

Page 51



5 

 

the borough, identify existing and predicted shortages – especially in areas where population is 
increasing due to new developments, procure new premises – where necessary by the 
mechanism of planning gain in new developments – and to procure GP services to fulfil existing 
and predicted need where identified.  (The mechanism of the Bunhill Short Life Group 
established by NHSE in early 2014 could be used as a model for this approach – see report at 
appendix 2). 

 
2. Practice nurses: That NHSE and ICCG work with GP practices to improve job security and 

opportunities for Practice Nurses.  Measures could include rotating nurses between practices 
and the Out of Hours service in order to improve training opportunities, work experience, and 
variety and interest in the post. This on the basis of  evidence heard by the committee of a 
shortage of practice nurses, resulting in GPs having to carry duties of the practice nurse, taking 
time away from their core work as GPs.   

 
3. Funding allocation:  That LBI and ICCG work together to lobby the Government to review the 

funding allocation formula for general practice to ensure funding adequately reflects the 
increased and complex needs of patients living in deprived areas, as well as the particular 
challenges facing general practice in London. 

 
4. Practice information: That GP practices be required to fully publicise information regarding the 

availability and means of obtaining GP appointments at their practice.  This information should 
be clear, available through all currently recognised channels of communication, and explain 
when and how appointments can be made, give clear information about Out of Hours Options, 
and the range of medical services on offer from individual surgeries in addition to basic 
appointments. The committee also strongly recommends the use by all practices of SMS text 
reminders for appointments. 

 
5. Patient feedback: That NHSE and the CCG should work with local GP practices to establish a 

basket of patient feedback strategies, including patient user groups and post-appointment 
surveys to supplement the NHS Choices internet feedback option.  Surgeries should assess 
feedback from all these sources to ensure they capture a balanced view of patient experience.  
Patient feedback should be monitored regularly. 

 
6. Public awareness: That a public awareness campaign be developed to promote treatment 

options on the basis of ‘The right care, in the right place, at the right time’, and also to increase 
awareness of alternative treatment options, such as the minor ailments scheme in pharmacies.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



6 

 

 

Membership of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee – 2014/15 
 
Councillors:  
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) 
Councillor Raphael Andrews 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury 
Councillor Osh Gantly 

Councillor Mouna Hamitouche MBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Jean Roger Kaseki (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Kaya Makarau-Schwartz 
 
Substitutes: 
Councillor Alice Donovan 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
Councillor Tim Nicholls 
 

Co-opted Member:  
Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch  
 
Substitutes: 
Olav Ernstzen, Islington Healthwatch 
Phillip Watson, Islington Healthwatch 

 
 
 
Acknowledgements:   The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to 
the review. 
 
 
Officer Support:    
Peter Moore, Rachel Stern, Mary Green, Philippa Murphy – Democratic Services 
Lead officer – Alison Blair, Islington CCG 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



7 

 

 
 

Scrutiny Initiation Document and Framing of the Review 
 
The Scrutiny Initiation Document (SID) for the review was first considered by the meeting of the 

Health Scrutiny Committee on 16 October 2012. 

At that meeting the Committee resolved that the Chair and LINk member meet with the CCG to 

discuss how the scrutiny could effectively explore this area and requested any data available on GP 

performance by practice. 

At their meeting on 6 November 2012 the Committee considered an initial presentation from Alison 

Blair, the Chief Operating Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Tony Hoolaghan, 

associate director of Primary Care at North Central London (NCL).  

The Committee noted that the GP contract did not include a limit on list numbers and that the data 

on GP appointments for June showed significant variation from practice to practice and this should 

be reduced to ensure a positive experience for all patients. GPs could not turn away patients and 

data could be gathered from formal complaints and PALS on performance. 

Members reported that phone consultations with GPs were helpful but services again varied from 

practice to practice. There were various myths about what GPs were required to do and how they 

were funded. It would be helpful if a factsheet was available detailing what recourse there was from 

GPs to commissioners and what happened if they were failing.  

A number of initial points of interest were raised at this stage as follows - 

 The myhealthlondon website was very helpful and included data about practice performance. It 

was seen as a useful resource and was likely to be rolled out nationally. 

 Members requested a breakdown of GP practices detailing which were group practices and 

which were single handed and what services were provided from each site. 

 The introduction of the 111 service would mean a more locally delivered service. There would 

be national publicity and Islington would start operating their service from April. 

 There was an ongoing issue with GP time being taken up with patients needing referral letters 

for housing and benefits service. This was likely to increase with the new benefit changes. 

Evidence from Islington LINk 
 

In December 2012 the Committee called the Islington LINk to give evidence to the Committee. They 

were represented at that meeting by Gerry McMullen who outlined the work of the LINk with patients 

and the conclusions drawn from that research. 

The LINk had conducted their research into this area in 2010 but there were still relevant themes 

that could be drawn out.  

The report on the exercise presented a summary of key findings -  

The LINk team interviewed 119 patients in the six practices visited in August 2010. Although there 

was a target to obtain twenty interviews at each practice and despite making more than one visit, it 

was not possible to reach this target at the smaller practices. The data obtained present a snapshot 

Page 54



8 

 

view of service users and their opinions. However, some common themes emerged from the 

interviews: 

 Making appointments by telephone or in person at the practice were identified as the two 

most common ways by which patients make an appointment. 

 Only two of the practices visited had an online facility for patients to make an appointment 

and, even where that facility was available, it was only rarely used by those the LINk 

interviewed. Further information suggested that there may be low awareness of the online 

facility and/or accessing it to make an appointment may be complicated. 

 The responses suggest that appointment systems need to offer flexibility, both in the method 

by which appointments are booked (phone, in person, online) and in the time of the 

appointments. 

One practice, Practice A, which offered all available methods of booking, monitored the 

appointments close enough to alter the pre-booked and walk-in appointments. This close monitoring 

and flexibility contributed to meeting the patients’ needs. 

The interviews, especially at one smaller practice, identified that the availability of appointments on 

a same day/walk-in basis is highly regarded by the patients at that practice. 

From those the LINk interviewed at all the practices, most described the appointment systems in 

place as ‘very easy’ or ‘easy’ and rated them as ‘good’ or ‘very good’. Only small numbers of those 

interviewed thought the appointment systems were ‘difficult’ and rated then as ‘poor’. Negative 

responses were not recorded for all the practices visited but were more common in the interviews 

that we conducted at the medium-sized practices. 

To reduce the rate of ‘no shows’ at booked appointments, one of the larger practices sent reminders 

as SMS text messages and this was welcomed by patients. 

Some responses showed that some patients did not understand how the appointments system 

worked, for example that they could phone the practice later in the day to see if appointments had 

opened up. Or that, sometimes reception staff need to triage patients and so have to ask questions 

about their condition. 

The Link had prepared key recommendations in the response to their research - 

1.  Appointment systems should be flexible and closely monitored. Seasonal adjustments as well 

as daily adjustments (reflecting weather conditions or World Cup matches, for example) should 

be adapted to meet demand. 

2.  Extended hours should be offered when possible as these were valued by patients where 

finances permit. 

3.  Practices should produce clear, Plain English leaflets on how appointments can be made and 

the considerations of urgency. These should be available in a range of formats. 

4.  Patients should be made aware that if they request a specific GP an appointment on that day 

may not be available and should consider seeing another GP or waiting a bit longer for an 

advance booking. 

5. Patients should be made aware that if they have more than one issue to discuss with a GP or 

need an interpreter, then they should try to book a double appointment. 

Page 55



9 

 

6.  Online appointment booking and online prescription ordering should be made easily accessible 

on websites, and its availability promoted to patients1. 

The Committee noted that IPSOS MORI conducted research into this area and the new data would 

be available shortly. The new IPSOS Mori poll had changed its methodology from the previous poll 

so they could not be compared like for like. The poll data could be looked at and analysed to see if 

any relevant trends could be identified. 

Access to GPs was regularly raised as an issue by patients and all GP practices should produce a 

practice leaflet detailing services but some practices’ leaflets were not clear or were out of date. The 

variation in quality of GPs websites with some allowing online booking and some not was 

highlighted. All practices were upgrading to the EMIS system which should allow for improvements 

and practice managers were key to the services offered. All GPs should also have patient reference 

groups to gather views. 

Timings for walk in appointments could also be misleading, for example at Bart’s their clinic hours 

were stated as 8am-2pm but the last patient to be accepted would be at 12:45pm. For patients to 

make an informed choice they needed to have all the information about what services were 

available to them and the inconsistency of information was a major issue highlighted in the survey. It 

would be helpful to have a list of parameters for the services GPs were required to provide. 

Information should be sought on what was in the GP contracts and what financial incentives they 

would gain to provide additional services.  

Evidence from NHS North Central London 
 

At their meeting on 25 March 2013, the Chair welcomed Dr Henrietta Hughes, Acting Medical 

Director, NHS North Central London to the meeting to present her evidence. Dr Hughes explained 

her position in the new structures as Medical Director designate for the North East area of London 

where she would have responsibility for commissioning GPs after 1 April 2013. 

Dr Hughes outlined the process of annual contract review. Each GP practice would complete a 

detailed document for submission to the contracts team, part of which would specify the clinic times 

offered to patients.  The BMA recommended 4.6 appointments per patient per annum as a guide. 

Where it appeared that a practice had fallen below this guideline figure it would be asked to draw up 

an action plan which might propose an increase in the number of appointments per GP, the 

appointment of more GPs, or additional nursing time, or a combination of all of these inputs to 

ensure that more appointments were offered to patients. 

Other options open to GP practices included the booking and cancellation of appointments on-line 

and text reminders to patients,  

In the current system each PCT cluster had a complaints department. Under the new NHS 

structures complaints would be part of the responsibility of primary care development at Clinical 

Commissioning Group level. 

In London patients could also use the My Health London website2 to give feedback to their GPs.  

                                                           
1
   Extract taken from Islington LINk Enter and View Report: GP Services: Patient Experiences of Appointment Systems at 

Medical Centres in Islington 
2
 www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/ 

Page 56



10 

 

It appeared that there was evidence to suggest a large degree of inconsistency between GP 

practices. Also, it may be that some patients present at A&E instead of making an appointment with 

their GP.  In the next stage of the review it would be useful to the Committee to have access to 

statistics from the acute hospitals showing which patients, and how many, presented at A&E and 

from which surgeries whether across the borough or from outside its boundaries. 

The following points were made by Dr Hughes in response to questions from members of the 

Committee: 

 There are a number of different approaches amongst GP practices, dictated in part by the 

size of the practice, the patient population, the range of options available for booking 

appointments e.g. online booking, book ahead, book on the day or the day before.  The 

Committee might wish to look at demand trends and the flexible approaches to access the 

service. 

 

 GP practices have different ways of handling appointments and dealing with emergencies. 

Some for example employed a telephone triage system; others might still rely on a telephone 

queuing system at the start of the working day. There were intelligent ways of planning 

demand: for example a practice could ask patient groups and vary the mix. This sort of 

approach would often be well received. The choice lay between book ahead and managing 

demand on the day. 

 

 Telephone triage was a good way of managing demand on the day. To work effectively GPs 

needed to be at the front end of a telephone triage system. This could be very effective but 

depended on good telephone consultation skills and good safety netting. The criteria for a 

good triage system were good listening skills, and the ability to ask the right questions. 

Medicine was an art: it would always involve a judgement as it was partly about knowing 

when something was not right. 

 

 A telephone triage system for managing ‘on the day’ appointments seemed to have much to 

commend it and the Committee would give further thought to including it as one of its 

recommendations. 

 

 All patients should be able to register with their GP practice and all should have a standard 

experience. Patients’ lists were reviewed at regular (2/3 yearly) intervals. This was important 

as funding was geared to patient numbers and inactive ’ghost’ patients can misrepresent the 

size of the workload.  

 

 Instant messaging was being trialled and there were experiments also involving tele-

medicine, telecare and skype. 

Evidence from GPs and GP representatives 
 

At their meeting on 23 April 2014 the Committee heard evidence from Dr Robbie Bunt, Islington GP, 

Chair Islington LMC, Dr Katie Coleman, Islington GP, Joint Clinical Vice-Chair, Islington CCG, Dr Jo 

Sauvage, Islington GP, Joint Clinical Vice-Chair, Islington CCG, Dr Julie Sharman, LMC Secretary, 

Londonwide LMCs together with Alison Blair, Chief Officer, Islington CCG and Avni Shah, Head of 

Commissioning, Islington CCG. 

Page 57



11 

 

In his introduction, Dr Robbie Bunt referred to the role of local medical committees as the statutory 

professional organisation elected by GPs to represent all NHS GPs and practice teams. In Islington 

there were 37 practices, some of which were small single-handed practices whilst others had 

multiple partners, nurses and care assistants, and very large patient lists. GP practices were 

independent businesses. 

London and Islington faced very real challenges: for many practices lists turned over by 30% a year 

and taking on new patients created a huge additional workload. There was also huge diversity in the 

local population: 42% of local people were born outside the UK; 20% did not speak English as a first 

language; and the borough had amongst the highest child poverty rates in the country. Islington was 

the 5th most deprived London borough and the 14th most deprived borough in England. This was 

surprising, given the high house prices in parts of the borough but many patients suffered from 

severe mental health problems, psychosis, and drug and alcohol-related conditions. 

Dr Katie Coleman was a GP at the City Road Medical Centre which 14 years ago had taken over a 

depleted list comprising 2,800 patients, many of them elderly, which had since increased year on 

year to around 7,000.  A 30% churn was typical and might involve registering 50 new patients in a 

week which understandably had a disruptive effect on the practice.  Bunhill and Clerkenwell were 

amongst the most densely populated wards in the borough and a large number of patients had 

severe mental health issues and extreme levels of depression and anxiety. These issues could not 

easily be dealt with in 10 minute consultations. 

The practice was juggling priorities. It was doing its best to manage demand, provide high quality 

services, and help patients to see their GP on demand. As an alternative approach it was piloting a 

new service called ‘Dr First’, the aim of which was to significantly improve patient access to GPs, 

and at the same time, reduce the demand on GPs, A&E and Walk-in clinics. Under ‘Dr First’, phone 

lines would be opened at 8.45am on weekdays, and patients would be called back by a senior 

doctor and a decision taken in each case either to invite the patient to come in to the surgery for a 

consultation, to book an appointment in advance, or to be dealt with there and then on the 

telephone. Out of 74 calls, ten patients needed to be seen by a doctor on the day, eight chose to 

make an advance booking and the rest were dealt with on the phone.  

The pilot would run for a year and then be evaluated but the early signs were that this system was 

helping the practice to manage demand more effectively. 

Dr Jo Sauvage confirmed this view and stressed that, as some patients were concerned about 

being dealt with over the phone, triage was always dealt with by a senior clinician who was able to 

apply clinical criteria and make a judgement in each case either to see the patient or deal with him 

or her over the phone. Invariably, lower thresholds would be applied for children, for the elderly and 

for those who did not speak English as a first language. 

In response to the evidence the Committee raised various points: 

Capacity was a concern. The perception locally was that patients were generally dissatisfied with 

the arrangements for accessing their GP. The impression was that the service was not as 

accessible as it should be and that people in work in particular found it difficult to make an 

appointment. It was this that had prompted the Committee to carry out a review with clear but tightly 

focused objectives. The intention was to make some best practice recommendations which added 

value and which made sense in practice. This was partly why the Committee had asked Dr 

Henrietta Hughes, as the Medical Director with responsibility for commissioning GPs in this part of 

Page 58



12 

 

London, to comment on the draft recommendations in due course. Against that background the 

Chair asked the following questions: 

a) To what extent was capacity an issue particularly in the south of the Borough? 

b) Where does responsibility lie within the new NHS structures for strategic decisions such as 

when and where to provide a new health centre or practice as part of a new housing scheme? 

c) Some practices operate ‘walk-in’, same day appointments but does this deter some patients 

who are not prepared to wait for an unscheduled appointment? 

d) Who should make decisions on triaging patients, in the ‘Dr First’ pilot it’s a senior doctor but 

for some out-of-hours consultations this would be done by an administrator? 

In response to the Chair’s questions it was stated that senior clinicians should triage calls under ‘Dr 

First’ and it was very important that the same doctor saw those patients who came in for a face-to-

face consultation as a result. As far as possible, the process from the call onwards must be 

managed from end-to-end by a senior clinician. 

NHS England was the contractor for new GP services although Clinical Commissioning Groups also 

had responsibility for improving the quality of primary care and access. 

Core hours in the GPs contract were from 8.30am to 6.30pm subject to variation by local 

agreement. In Islington 27 out of the 37 GP practices operated an enhanced service i.e. provided a 

service outside of the core contracted hours. As an example the City Road Medical Centre provided 

an extended hours service from 6.30pm to 8pm on two evenings each week. Although this was 

intended to help people in work, access at these times was not in any way restricted. 

GP practices operated as individual businesses and developed services in line with patients’ needs. 

There was no ‘one size fits all’ solution and the ‘Dr First’ pilot was one of a number of different 

approaches. Capacity was a major issue. Many patients had long-term conditions such as 

respiratory problems, heart disease and diabetes, all of which used to be dealt with in hospital. If 

they were to respond effectively and manage the increased demand, both volume and complexity of 

cases, GPs practices needed long-term continuity and certainty of funding for their business plans. 

It was essential that patients understood that they had a responsibility to look after themselves. GP 

practices were struggling to manage demand, due partly to the size of the lists and partly to the 

complex nature of the conditions of some patients particularly those with significant mental health 

problems. 

This situation was not helped by the numbers of patients presenting with minor ailments which might 

just as easily be dealt with by a visit to the local pharmacy, and by patients who made appointments 

simply to ask their doctor for a letter to assist them with a housing application, or those sent by a 

local school to get a doctor’s sick note for their child when the proper course might have been for 

the parent to look after the child at home.  The BMA had issued guidelines for the number of 

appointments per patient per annum which meant practices were under pressure to meet these 

targets. 

The increasing complexity of patients’ needs had created opportunities for cross-working. Every 

practice had a link person. There were links with councillors as well. 

Page 59



13 

 

 ‘Dr First ‘was work in progress. It was being piloted alongside other different approaches which 

would be evaluated in 12 month’s time including the impact on other surgeries in the vicinity. The 

practices involved were working closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group.  Patients’ surveys 

would also be carried out. All GPs practices should have patient participation groups and wider 

groups to collect patient feedback. 

The witnesses referenced the Islington LINk’s research project in October 2010 ‘Patient 

Experiences of Appointment Systems at Medical Centres in Islington’ which amongst other things 

had recommended that appointment systems should be flexible and also that practices should 

produce clear leaflets explaining how appointments could be made and what to do in cases of 

urgency. This was a contractual commitment. 

In light of the evidence received the Committee resolved that they should review the final 

recommendations of the report with LMC, CSU and CCG prior to publication of the report. 

Evidence from Patients 
 

At their meeting on 23 May 2013 the Chair welcomed three patients to the meeting, Kay Dixon, 

Michael Rowlands and Rose McDonald, each of whom in turn gave their views in response to the 

following questions put by the Chair: 

 

 

 

The appointments process  

1. How do you usually make an appointment with your GP e.g. by telephone, in person, on-line? 

Is it same day booking, advance booking, walk-in clinic etc.? 

 

The appointments process  
 

1. How do you usually make an appointment with your GP e.g. by telephone, in person, on-line? Is it 
same day booking, advance booking, walk-in clinic etc.? 
 

2. How is the booking of emergency appointments handled? 

 
3. How satisfied are you with getting an appointment, the opening hours of your practice, and getting 

through on the telephone? 

 
4. Are the arrangements clearly stated and clearly understood? (The practice must publish how 

patients can access a GP.) 

 
5. Do you have to take time off work to attend a GP appointment? Does your GP practice offer 

extended hours  e.g. before 8am, after 6.30pm, weekend opening 
 

Seeing the GP you want to see 
 

6. How satisfied are you that you can see your preferred doctor most or all of the time? 
 

Areas for improvement 
 
7. How could the appointments system be made easier for you/what improvements would you like to 

see? 

Page 60



14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following points were made in response to questions from other members of the Committee: 

 The best advice was always to phone early before 8.am for a same day appointment. 

 The patient would always prefer an appointment with her own GP: for reasons of continuity 

of care and also to build up a relationship between patient and doctor. 

 Advance bookings were usually offered two weeks ahead. 

 The practice tended to offer an appointment on the next available timeslot rather than 

offering a choice of time. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responses from Patient 1 – 
 

1. By telephone for same day and advanced bookings. Ring on the day at 8am. It was also 
possible to book afternoon appoints by telephone during the lunchtime period before 
1.30pm. 
 

2. She was fortunate in that she had always been able to get a same day appointment. 
 

3. The arrangements were clearly stated on the practice’s website. Opening hours may 
differ from day to day. 

 
4. This patient had retired. Extended hours were offered with two early morning 

consultations starting at 8.00am and two in the evenings at 6.30pm/7.00pm. 
 

5. The patient was able to see her preferred doctor most of the time. (The practice normally 
had six GPs).  

 
6. In her experience the appointments system worked fairly well. Appointments could be 

made via the website for the longer term but not for same day appointments. Some 
patients would prefer to make appointments on line. 

Responses from Patient 2 – 
 

1. By telephone or sometimes she would attend in person and queue for a same day 
appointment because it was so difficult to make an appointment otherwise. In her experience 
she was more likely to get an appointment by queuing. There was no walk-in clinic. She did 
sometimes make advance bookings: these were often 4/5 weeks in advance. Her GP was 
only in half a day a week and she needed to see this particular doctor as part of her post-
surgery care. 
 

An example was given of an instance where she had phoned at 1.40pm for an afternoon 
appointment and by the time her call was answered all of the appointments had gone and so 
she had attended in person at 1.15pm on the next day and queued for an appointment. 
 

2. Not satisfied. She would let the telephone ring for 5 minutes but often in her experience all of 
the appointments have gone – and so she prefers to queue in person. The surgery opened at 
8am and closed at 7pm. Emergency appointments were available on Fridays for patients who 
chose to walk in and wait. The practice was not open at weekends. 
 
 

 

Page 61



15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following points were made in response to questions from other members of the Committee: 

 Patients were only allowed to present with one issue per appointment but what happens if 

they have related symptoms? There isn’t enough time and while double appointments may 

be available in her experience there were never two vacant slots together. 

 The practice had about five GPs, one or two of whom were new doctors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. She had found out about the arrangements by default, nothing was displayed on the notice 
board. The surgery was working with Harmoni. The patient outlined the circumstances which 
had led to her making a complaint against the practice. 

 
4. As a carer, she preferred appointments during the daytime although occasional evening 

appointments would also help. She would prefer appointments at weekends or later in the 
evening. (7.30pm/8pm) 

 
5. See 1. above. 
 
6. The system would be easier if patients phoning early in the morning were offered afternoon 

appointments once all of the morning appointments had gone. She gave an example of an 
instance when the walk-in centre had not been prepared to see her because it was 10am. 
She felt that she was knocked back on a regular basis at a very busy surgery. 

Responses from Patient 3 – 
 
1. By telephone or advance booking. If a same day appointment were required he would have to 

phone and book an appointment with a GP who would call him back. The return call was made 
by a doctor mostly although on one occasion a receptionist had made the call. 
This system was called ‘Dr First’. He was extremely perturbed about how the system works. 
On one occasion, when suffering from a heart condition, he had walked in and ended up being 
taken to the Whittington by ambulance. Last year he had been told he couldn’t be seen by 
walking in but if he had had a mobile phone he could have stepped outside and called for an 
appointment. Advanced appointments were usually made three weeks ahead if the patient 
wanted to see a specific GP and two weeks for any GP in the practice. 
 

He believed that patients had a basic right to see a GP if they were not feeling well. He should not 
be put in a position of having to explain himself – of having to give a clinical justification to a doctor 
(or receptionist). 
 
Under ‘Dr First’, a GP would call back within an hour and usually give him an appointment at a 
specified time. The elderly, infirm or confused, or those with language problems, might be put off.  
The system tended to favour those who were middle class, educated, self-confident and articulate, 
and relied on patients being able to give a clinical justification. 

 

Page 62



16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following points were made in response to questions from other members of the Committee: 

 Six weeks ago the patient had gone direct to A&E after waiting for a letter from his GP and 

UCL had encouraged him to contact them directly and make appointments with them rather 

than through his GP. 

 It may not be widely known that patients with long-term conditions may be able to make 

double appointments. 

 The appointment system no longer works on the basis of a personalised doctor/patient 

relationship. The patient must take what is offered and can by-pass his GP if he has a 

serious condition. ‘Dr First’ had de-personalised the doctor/patient relationship. 

 

The Chair thanked the patients for volunteering to answer questions from members of the 

Committee and for giving their own personal experience and stressed that the anecdotal evidence 

which the Committee had heard during the meeting had been very helpful in raising some issues 

that might usefully be followed up in the scrutiny review. 

Evidence from Acute Hospital Trust 
 

At the meeting of the Committee on 3 September 2013 evidence was heard from representatives of 

Whittington Health. By way of introduction the Chair explained that the Committee was trying to 

understand why A&E services were so overloaded at the present time and whether attendances at 

A&E varied from one GP practice to another. It was also trying to understand the underlying trends 

e.g. the numbers of patients who attend A&E from particular GP practices – whether there were 

there certain types of patient that present more frequently than others i.e. with particular types of 

complaints, and whether there were there any discernible trends related to particular practices. 

Carol Gillen, Director of Operations, Integrated Care and Acute Medicine, Whittington Health and 

Humayun Mian, ED Operations Manager attended the meeting. 

 To give an impression of the size and scale of the Emergency Department’s work: 

 90,000 patients per annum 

 Mean daily arrivals 260 – (has been as high as 335 in recent weeks) 

 22% Paediatrics 

The practice had six GPs. 
2. Getting through on the phone was not difficult in his experience. 
 
3. He had no idea what the opening hours were and did not recall seeing them on display at the 

surgery. 
 
4. The patient was retired. He didn’t know whether extended opening hours were available. 
 
5. He didn’t have a preferred GP - ten years ago he did, but not any longer. 
 
6. He questioned the value of the triage system (Dr First). In his opinion this system doesn’t work 

for the reasons given in answer to Question 1. above. It may be good for doctors and for 
reducing queues but now the practice was empty. He believed that patients who felt unwell 
should be allowed to go into their surgery and sit and wait to be seen by a doctor. This was an 
important part of their social wellbeing. 

Page 63



17 

 

 2% Trauma & Resuscitation 

 46% Minor injuries / Primary Care 

 30% medical / surgical 

 

An overview was given of the pathways for patients arriving by ambulance as well as for those who 

walk-in. A key feature was the urgent care centre, an integrated part of the Emergency Department 

which opened in April 2010. Open daily from 08:00am – 22:00pm, 7 days per week, 365 days per 

year, it was staffed with Emergency Nurse Practitioners & General Practitioners working as part of 

local GP Consortium, ‘WISH.’ 

A breakdown was given of patients discharged from the urgent care centre and this showed that in 

July 2013 the vast majority of patients (numbering more than 2,000) were seen by a nurse 

practitioner or a GP at the centre. Most of the other patients were seen by doctors on a training 

programme. 

An overview of departures (from the urgent care centre) showed that the vast majority (around 

1,600) were discharged to their GP to follow up and over 900 ‘well’ patients were discharged with no 

follow up required. 

There were a number of reasons why some patients appeared to prefer the urgent care centre to 

their own GP, most of them related to access: 

 Access: Lack of GP appointments on an evening – both actual and perceived 

 Access: there seems to be a lack of available services at GP practices e.g. clinic for 

dressings 

 Access: Unable to contact GP surgeries (or cannot book an appointment) 

 Patient Choice: Convenience (attendance times were limited whereas the Emergency 

Department was open 24 hours a day.) 

 Patient Choice: Perception of the Emergency Department being the safest place to be 

treated especially in the case of parents. 

 A GP was based in the Emergency Department. 

 

Recent trends showed: 

 Higher number of attendances on an evening. 

 Increased attendances on a weekend 

 Introduction of 111 service i.e. this was a factor during the original roll out but no longer. 

 High number of attendances upon initial launch (Majors and Urgent Care Centre). 

 Referrals & Activity. 

 

The statistics showed an increase of referrals during the months of April –July 2013 from both the 

111 Service and Out-of Hours. A key factor however was that the Emergency Department had 

experienced a disproportionate increase in the numbers of patients presenting with minor 

complaints. One of the more significant factors that may account for this was the capacity of GP 

surgeries to cope with demand. 

Variance by GP practice was usually dependent upon: 

 Proximity to Emergency Department – if it was very local, patients may be making a choice 

Page 64



18 

 

 Availability of appointments (emergency or at short notice) 

 Accessibly of appointments (systems make a difference) 

 Appointment booking facility – Some practices use automated service 

 Services available at GP practice 

 Demographic details of patient group 

 

A number of points were raised in the discussion that followed. It appeared that 46% of attendances 

at the Emergency Department related to minor injuries although it was stressed that any cases 

where patients needed an X-Ray of any other form of diagnostic could only be dealt with in a 

hospital setting. Nevertheless, this posed a huge pressure on the Emergency Department. 

In reply to questions from the Chair and other Members of the Committee, Mr Mian confirmed that 

information was collected on the reasons why patients presented at the Emergency Department and 

this could be made available on request. It could also be analysed by post code and presented by 

area or by GP practice. Repeat users of the service were also tracked. Records were kept of any 

patients who re-attended within seven days and 14 days.  

Carol Gillen explained that the Whittington was already feeding back to GP practices where the 

evidence appeared to support local clinics being held to help patients manage particular conditions. 

In that sense the hospital’s information was shared with other clinicians in the community. The 

hospital met primary care service providers, adult services and other partners on a regular basis to 

identify patients who may be presenting regularly at the Emergency Department in order to help 

them manage their condition. A lot of work was being done to help patients with long-term 

conditions. Many of these had alcohol-related problems and where appropriate patients would be 

referred to the drug and alcohol liaison team or other community-based services. She added that 

district nurses and social workers were also doing a lot of good work in the community. 

Progress of the Review  
 

At the same meeting Alison Blair, Chief Officer of Islington Clinical Commissioning Group was 

invited to respond to the presentation from the Whittington, and explained that Islington and 

Camden CCGs had commissioned a one day audit/data collection exercise on Monday 9 

September 2013 focusing on urgent care services at the Whittington, the Royal Free and UCLH 

together with walk-in centres and out of hours services. The aim was to identify the reasons why 

patients were presenting at A&E and how many of them had phoned in to their doctor’s surgery on 

the day and were attending at A&E because they couldn’t get an appointment. Any data that 

clarified this point would make an important contribution to the Committee’s review. It was confirmed 

that the data analysis would be shared with the Committee. 

Nationally, it was thought that around 20% of the patients who attended A&E should have gone to 

see their GP instead. Feedback from the one day audit would add to the body of knowledge locally. 

There was then a question of how this message should be communicated to the public and what 

more could be done to achieve a better outcome. 

The Committee discussed the draft report with Alison Blair. She stressed that each GP practice 

worked differently, many of them had different appointments systems and some of these worked 

better than others. Different approaches offered patients choice and should be encouraged. It was 

suggested that the Committee could consider a recommendation which encouraged GP practices to 

offer to meet different demands from patients in different ways rather than offering one standard 

Page 65



19 

 

approach.  Perhaps practices should employ a hybridised approach to appointments. It was 

questioned whether patients knew what was available even though each practice was required to 

produce a leaflet and publicise their surgery arrangements on their websites. 

Draft recommendations were discussed. Many of them related to procedural matters even though 

Islington faced considerable demographic challenges. The Chair emphasized that the Committee 

had agreed at the outset to a tight focus on appointments systems but the report could still identify 

further areas for investigation. One of the key areas was the challenge to primary care services 

posed by demographic change. Another was demand and capacity and the implications for primary 

care in the borough: this included aspects of demand which were development-related (particularly 

in the south of the borough) and also to the treatment of patients with long-term conditions. NHS 

England had strategic responsibility for providing additional GP practices to meet new and changing 

needs and for bringing interested parties together when necessary to discuss problems and devise 

solutions. With that in mind the Chair proposed that a meeting should be convened with a 

representative of NHS England together with Alison Blair and Julie Billett, Joint Director of Public 

Health to discuss issues arising from changing demand in the south of the borough. 

Consideration of Draft Recommendations 
 

At their meeting on 18 November 2013 the Committee considered an interim report from the Chair 

and draft recommendations: 

Chair’s Interim Report 
 

This scrutiny was initiated as a result of anecdotal evidence put to members that there was 

considerable difficulty in obtaining appointments at some GP practices across the Borough. This 

scrutiny also takes place against the background of unparalleled and increasing pressure on 

hospital A&E departments, and with a secondary element of anecdotal evidence suggesting that 

some patients simply by-pass their local GP and instead, present at A&E as an alternative initial 

point of contact with the Health Service. 

The scrutiny was agreed and initiated in January 2013, and it had been intended to issue a final 

report and recommendations towards the end of this year. However, in April 2013 the newly formed 

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group (ICCG) launched a funded initiative called ‘Improved Access 

to GPs’, which is investigating various improvements which could well interact with the objectives of 

this scrutiny. It therefore seemed best, in order not to lose the momentum gained from the scrutiny 

to date, to issue an interim set of recommendations from the committee to reflect our findings to 

date, covered by a brief commentary (this note) on progress. And for the committee to revisit its 

recommendations and link them wherever possible with the ICCG outcomes once the ‘Improved 

Access’ initiative is completed. It should also be noted that these recommendations have been 

shared with and commented on by ICCG, NHS England (London) and the LMC, with the intention 

being that if we can achieve broad agreement with stakeholders on the recommendations, or at 

least agreement to differ, the recommendations will be pertinent and relevant, and have a higher 

likelihood of implementation. 

The scope of the scrutiny is actually quite narrow – The effectiveness of GP appointment systems. 

However, it has the potential to open up all sorts of supplementary lines of enquiry about staffing, 

NHS structures, and many other issues. We have resisted this temptation and stuck to the narrow 

focus of the terms of the scrutiny, in order to try and reach some meaningful conclusions. 

Page 66



20 

 

Our early hope was that we could source some statistical evidence that would help demonstrate 

which practices were more effective at dealing with appointments, and where patients were 

preferring A&E attendance. However, we found that the available statistics were too generalised to 

offer any dependable conclusions. This is not a fault of the data collection, but a measure of the 

complexity of the issue of when, where and how patients present themselves. What we have found 

is that subjective and anecdotal evidence of patients, doctors, practice managers, ICCG, and A&E 

staff offers far more revealing insight into the functioning of the system as a whole. In particular, we 

heard that different practices operate very different types of appointment systems, but equally 

successfully and effectively, that different cohorts of patients prefer different approaches to 

appointments, and that different patients of the same practice sometimes have very different 

experiences of the effectiveness or otherwise of the appointment system. It is therefore more or less 

impossible to recommend that one approach to appointments is more effective than another. 

To my mind, the most fascinating evidence came from staff at Whittington A&E, who were briefed to 

present to the committee their (where necessary) subjective views on whether they see more 

patients from one practice or another, whether certain profiles of patients are more likely to present 

than others, and any other impressions they might have of where their patients are coming from and 

why. It was clear from this presentation that a significant number of patients that present at A&E are 

best seen by the Urgent Care Centre, and that at least 20% of these could have seen their GP 

instead. We heard that GPs with an online or 24hr phone appointments system generally seem to 

deliver fewer patients to A&E.  

We heard that some parents take their children straight to A&E because they believe that hospital is 

the ‘safest place’. 

We heard that the implementation of the 111 service had not significantly increased attendances at 

A&E, once it had settled down. And most interestingly, we heard that the typical wait to see a doctor 

at the Urgent Care Centre (with no appointment) is 1.5 to 2 hours. This makes a striking contrast 

with GP surgeries, where a same-day appointment can mean waiting for up to 4 hours, sometimes 

at the surgery, to see a doctor, and where, if an appointment is not available on the day, the wait 

can often be 2 weeks for a ‘bookable’ appointment. This contrast in experiences can’t help but 

suggest that there could, or even should, be a challenge to GPs to find ways of managing their 

appointment systems, to the point where patients no longer consider Urgent Care Centres as an 

easier alternative to an appointment with their GP. 

Overall, whilst we have learned that it is very difficult to compare the appointment systems of 

different GP practices because they operate so differently, there remains anecdotal evidence that 

some GP practices continue to be more successful in operating their appointment systems than 

others. The challenge therefore, is to establish some kind of benchmarking system, that can achieve 

a consistent measure across practices of their effectiveness in delivering appointments to patients. 

It would be fair to say that the committee does not at the moment have a clear idea how this can be 

achieved, but we hope to achieve a consensus that this would be relevant and useful, and to secure 

agreement with GP practices across the Borough that they ought to be able to achieve broadly 

similar levels of performance in relation to appointments, whilst maintaining their individual 

approaches, and to find a consensual way of measuring this. 

The one area where the Committee has allowed itself beyond the strict remit of the Scrutiny is the 

question of overall provision of GP surgeries. Again, anecdotal evidence suggests that GP surgeries 

in certain areas of the borough are currently over-stretched, and it is a matter of fact that in areas 

Page 67



21 

 

such as Bunhill and Clerkenwell, a number of high-volume residential developments have been or 

are currently being completed, with a corresponding increase in population, yet no increase in GP 

provision has been initiated in response to these increases. What the committee has found, is that 

since the NHS reforms were introduced in April 2013, there is no established process or structure to 

both assess the need for additional GP provision, or to procure that provision. The Committee is 

very keen to help broker the establishment of such a process, and supplementary recommendation 

1 attempts to capture this. 

I am of the view that further constructive discussion is needed on both establishing workable 

benchmarking for the delivery of appointments, and also the establishment of a process to procure 

new GP provision. I am hopeful that the ‘Improved Access’ initiative will inform the former, and that 

ongoing discussions and meetings will help establish the latter. In the mean time, the draft 

recommendations are a summary of the committee’s findings to date. 

Cllr Martin Klute – Chair 

Draft recommendations – 
 

1.  Core and extended hours: That Islington CCG, working with NHS England, ensure that the 

availability of core and extended hours in Islington general practice is adequate and appropriate 

to meet patient’s needs. 

2.  Performance benchmarking: That performance bench marks for GP appointments be 

established across the borough, in order that voluntary performance targets can be agreed with 

all Practices. (This recommendation seeks to drive up performance standards, where 

necessary, by the mechanism of peer pressure rather than a contractual approach, and to 

achieve a greater consistency of performance without challenging differing management 

approaches to appointments between individual practices.) The Committee note that NHS 

England are at present developing methods of benchmarking, and that following publication of 

proposals the Committee will review this again. 

3.  Patient feedback: That the committee, working with the CCG, review current approaches to 

patient feedback, in order to establish consensus on best (and most effective) practice, and 

drawing on the lead from acute hospitals in securing feedback on an individual appointments 

basis. The feedback to be used to inform under recommendations 1 and 2. 

4.  Long term conditions: That alternative appointment systems be established for patients with 

long term conditions that require regular appointments, in order to avoid the requirement to 

repeatedly re-book under the daily appointment system. 

5.  Social support functions: That GP practices, the Council and the CCG work jointly to establish 

an alternative approach to providing social support services currently provided by GPs, such as 

school sick notes and letters in support of housing applications, to enable GPs to concentrate 

on core medical responsibilities. 

6.  Practice information: That GP practices be required to fully publicise information regarding the 

availability and means of obtaining GP appointments at their practice. This information should 

be clear, available through all currently recognised channels of communication, and explain 

when and how appointments can be made, give clear information about Out of Hours Options, 

and the range of medical services on offer from the surgery in addition to basic appointments. 

Page 68



22 

 

The committee also strongly recommends the use by all practices of SMS text reminders for 

appointments to reduce 

DNAs. 

7.  Telephone triage: That where telephone triage is used, this should be carried out in accordance 

with agreed protocols on best practice, to ensure that all patients have a positive experience, 

and that vulnerable patients are not challenged or distressed by their initial contact with the 

service. 

8.  Public awareness: That a public awareness campaign be developed to promote treatment 

options on the basis of ‘The right care, in the right place, at the right time’, and also to increase 

awareness of alternative treatment options, such as the minor ailments scheme in pharmacies. 

The Chair stated that given the trials currently being carried out supported by the Primary Care 

Foundation, were still ongoing that the Committee should only present interim recommendations at 

this stage and further recommendations and a final report should await the outcome of these trials. 

The Chair added that Martin Machray, the Director for Integrated Care and Governance at Islington 

CCG had written to him with details and he would arrange for this to be circulated to Members of the 

Committee. 

The Chair also added that he was meeting Islington CCG and Neil Roberts of NHS England to 

discuss how best it could be planned to ensure that premises were procured in appropriate areas to 

meet the needs of the community in the borough given the changing demographic needs. 

Martin Machray stated that he would try to submit the initial findings of the trials to Committee, 

including data sources, prior to April, so that their recommendations could inform the contract 

process. It was therefore resolved that the interim report and recommendations be noted and that 

further more detailed recommendations would be formulated once the results of the trials referred to 

above are known. 

Healthwatch GP Mystery Shopping Exercise 
 

Whilst waiting for the results of the trials the Committee heard evidence at their meeting on 25 

February 2014 on the GP Mystery Shopping exercise Islington Healthwatch had carried out.  

Bob Dowd introduced the findings of Healthwatch’s mystery shopping exercise to investigate how 

GP practices in the borough responded to enquiries about complaints and what complaint 

information they displayed for patients.   

The mystery shopping found that whilst a third of practices had leaflets that were easy to find, just 

under a third displayed no information about complaints at all.  Some practices, but not all, had 

posters and some of these were out of date. The detailed findings are in section 3 of the report, but 

the main finding was that, as with GP appointment systems, there is no consistency across the 

borough, with surgeries apparently working in isolation and widely differing standards between 

them.  There was no apparent explanation for this; the practices which scored well or badly did not 

appear to have any common characteristics. Bob Dowd noted that unlike appointments systems, 

there was a complaints procedure that all the surgeries should be following.  Healthwatch had made 

a number of recommendations in the report.  Alison Blair invited Bob Dowd to attend a forthcoming 

Practice Manager Forum to discuss these.  Bob Dowd advised this survey would be followed up by 

a further mystery shopping exercise in a year’s time. 

Page 69



23 

 

Presentation of Draft recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

The Chair attended the meeting of Islington’s Health and Wellbeing Board on 12 March 2014 to 

present the draft recommendations of the Committee. 

In discussion the following points were made: 

 There should be standard expectations about access to GPs. However, there was also a 

need for flexibility in appointment systems to cater for the various needs of patients 

 It was noted that NHSE had set up a project to look at services in the south of the Borough. 

It was also noted that three GP practices had been successful in bids to the Prime Minister’s 

Challenge Fund to improve access. 

 With regard to recommendation 8, relating to public awareness, the NHS had already 

produced public leaflets on “Choose the right treatment” to encourage people to choose the 

NHS service that could best treat their symptoms, rather than attending A&E 

 That further multi-disciplinary work and communication be carried out on recommendation 5, 

relating to “Social support functions” and the inclusion of “school sick notes” provided by 

GPs. The Council’s message to children and parents was that children must attend school. A 

multi-disciplinary approach would help to identify those seeking sick notes most frequently 

from a GP and any underlying issues. 

 

Report from the Primary Care Foundation - “Improving Access and Urgent Care in 
General Practice” 
 

At their meeting on 16 September 2014 Henry Clay, representing the Primary Care Foundation 

presented their report into “Improving Access and Urgent Care in General Practice” to the 

Committee. 

Extract from “Improving Access and Urgent Care in General Practice” - 
 
In March 2013 Islington Clinical Commissioning Group launched a Local Enhanced Service (LES) 
to improve access for patients to GP practices across the Borough. The initiative had two options: 
 
Option A; the “Doctor First” approach, or 
 
Option B; dedicated support to undertake a bespoke review of current systems and processes, 
through the Primary Care Foundation (PCF) 
 
The report was designed to provide a summary of Option B, showing the differences on a practice 
by practice view. 
 
2. Process 
 
Initially 27 GP practices accepted the PCF option. The process is that GP practices capture data 
about their systems, processes, consultations, telephones and staffing for a sample week. This 
data is uploaded via a web portal to the PCF website, where it is checked, analysed and published 
in a practice specific report. The report includes a comparison of the practice’s indicators against 
evidence based benchmarks, describing, amongst many other things, an optimum balance of: 
 

 Comparative activity of GPs and nurses, when looking at national indicators 

Page 70



24 

 

 

  Available patient appointments for GPs, nurses and other health care professionals 

 The split of appointment availability across the primary care team 

 How soon patients can get an appointment and the availability of appointments they can 

book in advance  

 How easy it is to get through on the phone and how often they are asked to call back 

 What happens when patients request a home visit  

 What patients say about access to routine and urgent appointments and their overall 

experience of making an appointment 

 How consistent their reception staff are in dealing with a range of requests for urgent 

appointments, their level of confidence and how recently they have received training 

 

Within each practice report there are approximately nine pages of information that describe 
these findings. Included also is additional information describing the generic background, 
evidence and rational that underpins their report, together with suggestions about what GP 
practices find helpful in reviewing their systems and processes. 
 
The PCF met with the GP practices to talk through the findings and offer any clarification or 
additional information necessary to help the GP practice move forward, together with any further 
support required to complete their changes (round 1). In addition there are a number of 
requirements within the LES that are not managed by the PCF. 
 
An action plan was produced by each practice, with support from the PCF, to help them plan and 
implement any necessary changes. 
 
The CCG commissioned a repeat of this process to help understand the impact of any changes 
made by the GP practice since round 1 (shown in round 2).  
 
 
3. Status  
 
 
The participating GP practices (see appendix 1) have completed their round 1 requirement, with 
most gathering their data during a period from March - May 2013. All GP practices received their 
reports and follow up visits during the summer of 2013. In addition to the original 27 practices, 1 
further practice joined (for round 1 and 2) and a further practice more recently (for round 2 only).    
All 29 GP practices completed their round 2 work, received their reports and have been offered 
further support and a follow up meeting.  
 
Finally, practices received a second detailed report, based on round 2, and also a comparison 
summary to help show the differences identified between round 1 & 2.   
 
 

Page 71



25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the discussion of the report there were several points of interest raised. 

The Committee reported that it had been difficult to find threads of consistency across high and low 

performing practices and the widespread variation between practices was a big challenge. 

. Although there was data on GP performance nationally there was no one solution for GP 

performance that would work for all practices. The Committee were aware that there was an 

expectation on practices that they would provide online access to patients from next year but there 

needed to be a balance of methods of access. 

Henry Clay advised that locum issues were relevant when considering the data on GP performance 

and as part of the review process the Committee should look at how the CCG were helping 

practices to change the performance statistics as required. 

There were draft access standards being prepared for London but they were not yet in place. 

Occasionally reception staff felt that the surveys were invasive and it was important that practice 

managers explained how the surveys would help improve systems for the patients of the practice. 

Support had to be given to receptionist teams to help with managing patients with English as a 

second language. There were existing translation services in place but the take up of these was low 

and did not seem to work well. Many patients chose to bring a family member or friend with them to 

translate.  

Patients unable to get through to the surgery by phone to access appointments were a major issue. 

Aiming for targets of 90% of calls being answered in 30 seconds would often diminish complaints. 

When practices told patients to call back again at the same time tomorrow they were often 

perpetuating the pressure on phone lines at busy times of day. Resourcing on any given day could 

be an issue but there could also be more complicated underlying issues.  

GP practices have different ways of handling appointments and dealing with emergencies. Some for 
example employ a telephone triage system, while others continue to rely on a telephone queuing 
system at the start of the working day. The choice lies between book ahead and managing demand 
on the day. 
 
There are intelligent ways of planning demand: for example a practice could ask patient groups and 
vary the mix. This sort of approach may often be well received.  
 

4. Executive Summary 
 
Many of the Islington GP practices have made significant efforts to understand and make 
appropriate changes to their systems and processes for access and urgent care. Some of these 
changes are already showing positive signs, although these changes can take time to be 
understood by patients and reflected in feedback. 
It’s also recognised that the dynamics can change for GP practices that have higher levels of 
patient deprivation or language problems; for instance, it’s more likely that in these 
circumstances GP practices may need a higher proportion of same day appointments, compared 
to elsewhere. However, the principles are the same and it’s good to hear from practices that 
experience these circumstances that they have been positive about the benefits these changes 
are bringing. 
 
Like any other change, it’s often a combination of processes that need review, across the whole 
GP practice system, and these will need ongoing monitoring and evaluation, rather than just a 
“quick fix”.   
 

Page 72



26 

 

Telephone triage offers a relatively new approach to managing demand on the day. However, if it is 
to work GPs need to be at the front end of a telephone triage system, either taking or returning the 
patients calls. This depends on good telephone consultation skills and good safety netting. The 
criteria for a good triage system are good listening skills, and the ability to ask the right questions.  
 
Instant messaging is being trialled in some practices and the Committee is aware that there are also 
experiments involving tele-medicine, telecare and skype. Other options open to GP practices 
include the booking and cancellation of appointments on-line and text reminders to patients. Some 
patients will always expect face-to-face contact but others may be prepared to consider a choice of 
telephone, skype or e-consultation.  
 
Repeat appointments were a larger issue for availability. If patients were coming back seven times 

rather than five times then the practice needed to consider why the extra appointments were 

needed. 

DNAs (did not attend) appointments were often higher when appointments were booked further in 

advance as the illness had improved by the time the appointment came around. If surgeries made 

better use of nursing staff so patients could be seen sooner the levels of DNA appointments could 

improve. 

Walk in appointments could help with providing easier access to appointments, particularly to those 

with English as a second language but it was just one way of service delivery. 

There was a drive towards extending access to primary care including into weekends. The shift was 

inevitable but it was possible that by working with other practices new service models could be 

developed. The difficulty with this was how to provide continuity of care as a patient’s notes and 

clinical record would need to be accessible. 

Continuity and having management plans in place that would explain what would happen when a 

situation arose were vital. 

The Committee had heard evidence of many GPs performing a social support function and 

undertaking a significant amount of work on benefits assessments, housing applications and sick 

notes. It was suggested that giving other clinicians access to the system centrally would enable 

these patients to be seen elsewhere. 

As practices grew they would need more resources. Allowing some staff to move round practices 

and out of hours services to gain experience could be beneficial. 

 
 

Page 73



27 

 

 

Conclusion 
 
Islington faces very real challenges, in common with many other inner London boroughs. To begin 
with, there is huge diversity in the local population: 42% of local people were born outside the UK; 
20% do not speak English as a first language; and the borough has amongst the highest child 
poverty rates in the country.  
 
Islington is the most densely populated borough in the UK and one of the five most deprived London 
boroughs. An average of 40.9% of children under 16 are living in poverty, and the rate of family 
homelessness is worse than the England average. Child obesity is higher than the national average; 
25 % of children aged six are obese in Islington compared with 19 % nationally. The borough has 
the lowest life expectancy amongst men in London, and the fourth lowest for women. 
 
But there are other significant issues. The GPs whom the Committee have met reported that many 
of their patients suffer from severe mental health problems, psychosis, and drug and alcohol-related 
conditions. People with serious psychological conditions such as psychosis represented 1.5% of the 
total registered population of Islington in 2010/11. This is the highest percentage in England. 10% of 
the total registered patient population in the borough have a recorded diagnosis of depression – the 
highest rate in London. Cardiovascular disease and cancer are major causes of early death. 
 
Bunhill and Clerkenwell are amongst the most densely populated wards in the borough and a large 
number of patients have severe mental health issues and high levels of depression and anxiety. It is 
difficult to imagine that these issues could easily be dealt with by GPs in 10 minute consultations. 
The Committee note that a report was specifically commissioned to look at the issues of population 
increases in Bunhill and Clerkenwell and the impacts this will have on services. 
 
Capacity appears to be a major issue for GP practices. The Committee heard that many patients 
have long-term conditions such as respiratory problems, heart disease and diabetes, all of which 
used to be dealt with in hospital. More than 35,000 people registered with a GP in the borough have 
one or more long-term conditions. If they are to respond effectively and manage the increased 
demand, both volume and complexity of cases, GPs have told the Committee that at the very least 
they need long-term continuity and certainty of funding for their business plans. 
 
It seems that GP practices are struggling to manage demand, due partly to the size of their patient 
lists and partly to the complex nature of the conditions of some patients particularly those with 
significant mental health problems. This situation is not helped by the numbers of patients 
presenting with minor ailments which might just as easily be dealt with by a visit to the local 
pharmacy, and by patients who make appointments simply to ask their doctor for a letter to assist 
them with a housing application, or those sent by a local school to get a doctor’s sick note for their 
child when the proper course might have been for the parent to look after the child at home.  
 
All patients should be able to register with their GP practice and should have a standard experience. 
GP patient lists are reviewed at regular intervals, typically every two or three years. This is important 
bearing in mind that the funding of GP practices is geared to patient numbers and inactive ’ghost’ 
patients can misrepresent the size of the workload.  
 
The Committee has been advised that many practices’ patient lists turn over by up to 30% a year. 
As an example the Committee heard that one local practice had taken over a depleted list 
comprising 2,800 patients 14 years ago, which had since increased year on year to around 7,000.  
A 30% churn is typical and might involve registering 50 new patients in a week which 
understandably would have a disruptive effect on any practice.   
 
 

Page 74



28 

 

There is evidence to suggest a large degree of inconsistency between GP practices on their 
appointment systems. There are a number of different approaches amongst GP practices, dictated 
in part by the size of the practice, the patient population, and the range of options available for 
booking appointments e.g. online booking, book ahead, book on the day or the day before. The 
evidence we have heard has also shown little consistency between patient satisfaction and 
appointment systems. Two practices operating the same appointment systems can have vastly 
differing patient satisfaction rates and this makes it hard to identify one “best practice” approach. In 
the Committee’s view there is not any one system that can operate for all practices to the 
satisfaction of all patients. 
 
Core hours in the GPs contract are from 8.30am to 6.30pm subject to variation by local agreement. 
In Islington 27 out of the 37 GP practices operate an enhanced service i.e. provide a service outside 
of the core contracted hours. Although this is intended to help people in work, access at these times 
is not in any way restricted. 
 
Many practices are juggling priorities. Some practices operate ‘walk-in’, same day appointments but 
this may deter those patients who are not prepared to wait for an unscheduled appointment. 
The Committee heard from one practice which was doing its best to provide high quality services, 
and help patients to see their GP on demand.  
 

The perception locally is that patients are generally dissatisfied with the arrangements for accessing 
their GP. The impression is that the service is not as accessible as it should be and that people in 
work in particular find it difficult to make an appointment. It was this that prompted the Committee to 
carry out a review with clear but tightly focused objectives. The intention is to make some best 
practice recommendations which add value and which make sense in practice. 
 
The review has looked specifically at the demand for GP appointments in Islington which has 37 
registered practices some of which are small single-handed practices whilst others have multiple 
partners, nurses and health care assistants, and very large patient lists. It has also looked at their 
capacity to meet demand, having regard to the challenges posed locally and wider considerations 
such as public expectations and the changing interface between acute and primary care, and the 
move towards integrated care which is being pursued by Whittington Health and others. 
 
In light of the evidence received the Committee have formulated their key recommendations that 
they consider will help to improve access for patients and look to alleviate pressure on GPs.  
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



29 

 

 

APPENDIX A –   
 

SCRUTINY REVIEW INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID) 

Review: GP Appointment Systems 
 

Scrutiny Review Committee: Heath Scrutiny Committee 
 

Director leading the Review: Director of Public Health 
 

Lead Officer: Alison Blair, Islington CCG 
 

Overall aim: To assess the performance of GP appointment systems and the service provided to 
residents. 
 

Objectives of the review: 
To assess how effective urgent and non-urgent appointment systems are and how these vary across 
the borough. 
To examine GP appointments against current targets and identify any under-performing areas. 
To collect evidence of patient experiences and assess any unmet needs. 
 

How is the review to be carried out: (Use separate sheets as necessary for 1-4 below) 
 
Scope of the Review 
 
Types of evidence will be assessed by the review: (add additional categories as needed) 
 
Documentary submissions: 
 
It is proposed that witness evidence be taken from: 
 
GPs 
Patient Groups 
ii) Commissioners 
 
Visits 
 

Additional Information: 
 

Extract from Minutes of HSC held on 16/10/2012 
In the discussion the following points were made: 
 

Objective one should be amended to read “to assess how effective urgent and non-urgent 
appointment systems”. 
Objective two be amended to read “To examine GP appointments against”. 
That the Chair and LINk member meet with the CCG to discuss how the scrutiny could effectively 
explore this area.  
The Committee requested any data available on GP performance by practice. 
 

 

Page 76



30 

 

APPENDIX B –  
 
Background 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
NHS England is responsible for commissioning GP, dental, pharmacy and optometry services and 
for carrying out contractual compliance and performance monitoring. 

 
It is however a jointly agreed objective of the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS 
Commissioning Board that local patients should have easy access to safe, high quality and 
accessible services. 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissions the majority of health services for patients 
in the local area. This includes acute care, mental health services and community services but not 
GP services or specialist services such as heart transplants. CCGs do however have a role in 
driving up the quality of primary care in their area, and a duty to collaborate with NHS England to 
improve the quality of services. 
 
GP practices operate as independent businesses and develop services in line with patients’ needs. 
Their interests are represented to the NHS by local committees of NHS GPs, known as local 
medical committees.  
 
The GP contract was determined nationally in 2004. The important points relating to GP 
appointments and access to GPs by patients may be summarised as follows: 
 

(a) All practices must publish details of how patients can access a GP for a consultation. Many 
practices produce a leaflet. 

(b) The number of appointments that should be offered is not specified, nor is the type of 
appointments system. 

(c) Practices are required to ‘meet reasonable needs of patients’. There are no limits on the 
number of patients that may be taken on by any one practice, nor on how many staff 
(doctors, nurses, receptionists) a practice may employ. 

(d) The targets on speed of access were removed in 2010. It is no longer a requirement that a 
patient must be able to see a GP within 48 hours.  

 
As part of the process of annual contract review, each GP practice is required to complete a 
detailed document for submission to the NHS contracts team, part of which specifies the clinic times 
offered to patients. The BMA recommends 4.6 appointments per patient per annum as a guide. 
Where it appears that a practice has fallen below this guideline figure it is asked to draw up an 
action plan which might propose an increase in the number of appointments per GP, the 
appointment of more GPs, or additional nursing time, or a combination of all of these inputs to 
ensure that more appointments are offered to patients. 
 
The Committee has examined a number of factors which have a bearing on access to GP 
appointments and the patient experience. These include: 
 

(a) Demand and GP Appointments and the capacity of GP practices to respond 
 

 The number of patients registered with each practice; 

 The number of GPs and other staff (i.e. practice nurses and receptionists); 

 The number of appointments offered; 

 Opening hours; 

 The appointments system (e.g. same day booking, advance booking) 

Page 77



31 

 

 The telephone system;  

  Do not attend patients; 

 The extended hours offered by each practice. 
 

 
(b) Patient feedback on Access to GPs and Appointments  

 
 
In London patients can also use the My Health London website to give feedback to their GPs 
www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/.  
 

(c) Patients’ Complaints related to GPs Appointments 
 

Under the new NHS structures complaints are part of the responsibility of primary care development 
at Clinical Commissioning Group level.  All GP practices have patient participation groups and wider 
groups to collect patient feedback. GPs cannot turn away patients and data could be gathered from 
formal complaints. 
 
 
The data on GP appointments for June 2012 shows significant variations from practice to practice 
and this should, as far as possible be reduced to ensure a positive experience for all patients.  
 
 
STRATEGIC RESPONSIBILITY FOR COMMISSIONING 
 
NHS England has responsibility for strategic decisions on the provision of additional GP practices 
and improvements to premises etc. and for bringing interested parties together as part of the 
decision-making.  
 
 
NHS 111 SERVICE 
 
It may be necessary to factor in NHS 111 which has recently replaced NHS Direct as the single 
number for urgent care advice. (The Service is provided locally by London Central & West 
Unscheduled Care Collaborative (LCW).) If the review wants to look at the entrance points to 
medical advice and health care, NHS 111 is one of them, alongside GPs and A&E. 
 
Can NHS 111 cope with demand at peak periods? Is it contributing to the increased demand at A&E 
(too wide a subject for our review?) 
 
To date there has been no evidence to suggest that NHS 111 has contributed to any increase 
demand in A&E attendances.  Islington CCG are carefully monitoring LCW’s ability to deal with 
peaks and troughs in activity.  They receive weekly reports on this and are working with LCW on 
their plans for the winter period when they can expect to get more calls.  NHS 111 also provides a 
directory of services whereby patients are signposted to the most appropriate services based on the 
need including primary care – GPs, community pharmacy, community services where appropriate 
etc.  
 
A&E 
 
It has been suggested that some patients present at A&E instead of making an appointment with 
their GP.  See Tables 1 and 2 below. These six practices were selected because between them 
they account for the highest numbers of patients reporting to A&E at either Whittington or UCLH 
during the six month period from September 2012 to February 2013.  It should be stressed however 

Page 78

http://www.myhealth.london.nhs.uk/


32 

 

that these practices have the largest patient lists in Islington and between them have more than 
60,000 registered patients.  
 
Table 1Whittington Hospital 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 2 University College London Hospitals 
 

GP Practice UCLH % of 
Total 

Killick Street 
Health Centre 

1,020 9.1 

Ritchie Street 
Group Practice 

1,106 9.8 

St Peter’s 
Medical Practice 

743 6.6 

Total 2,869 25 

 
Sources: NHS Choices and Islington CCG Database 
 
 

 

GP Practice Whittington % of 
Total 

Goodinge 
Group 
Practice 

   933  5.8 

Northern 
Medical 
Centre 

1,029  6.4 

St John’s 
Way Medical 
Centre 

1,684 10.5 

Total 3,646 23 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2014-15 

 
  
21 OCTOBER 2014 
 

1. Whittington Hospital – Performance Update 
 

2. Drug and alcohol misuse – Annual Update 
 

3. Islington Healthwatch Annual Report 
 

4. GP Appointments – Final Report 
 

5. Prioritisation of scrutiny topics 
 

6. Work Programme 2014/15 
 
 
18 NOVEMBER 2014 
 

1. Primary Care Co-Commissioning  
 

2. NHS Trust – Quality account report 2014/15 
 

3. Peer review Adult Social Services 
 

4. Care Act  
 

5. Local Account 
 

6. New topic – SID/Presentation 
 
7. Work Programme 2014/15 

 
 
13 JANUARY 2015 
 

1. NHS Trust – Quality account report 2014/15 
 

2. Annual Adults Safeguarding Report 
 

3. New topic - Draft Recommendations 
 

4. New topic - Witness Evidence 
 

5. Work Programme 2014/15 
 
 
10 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

1. NHS Trust – Quality account report 2014/15 
 

2. New topic - Draft Recommendations 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



3. New topic – Final Report 
 

4. New topic - Witness Evidence 
 

5. Work Programme 2014/15 
  
 
17 MARCH 2015 
 

1. NHS Trust – Quality account report 2014/15 
 

2. New topic – Final Report 
 

3. Work Programme 2014/15  
  
  
19 MAY 2015 
 

1. Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 
 

2. Child Protection in Islington – Annual Update 
 

3. Work Programme 2014/15 and prioritisation of scrutiny topics  
  

 
 
 
FUTURE ITEMS: 
TBC 

Page 82


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	3 Islington Healthwatch Annual Report
	Annual Report 2013 - 14

	4 GP Appointments - Final Report
	6 Work Programme 2014/15

